

Australian Government Department of Defence Defence Science and Technology Organisation

Load Carriage Capacity of the Dismounted Combatant - A Commander's Guide

J. Drain, R. Orr, R. Attwells and D. Billing

Human Protection and Performance Division Defence Science and Technology Organisation

DSTO-TR-2765

ABSTRACT

There is a universal requirement for military personnel to carry an external load. The load of military personnel is typically comprised of clothing, protective ensemble (i.e. body armour, helmet), combat equipment (i.e. webbing, weapon systems, ammunition, power sources, radio) and sustainment stores (i.e. food and water). In addition, military operations often requires dismounted personnel to move, on foot, through various climates and terrains for long and continuous periods. The total load varies dependant upon factors such as mission requirements and threat profile. Recent evidence suggests that the individual's load is increasing with advancing technologies and personal protective equipment. Excessive external load may adversely impact upon an individual's physical capability (e.g. mobility, lethality) and health (e.g. survivability, thermal burden). It is therefore important we consider (likely) individual load carriage capacity in mission planning. An individual's load carriage capacity is influenced by a multitude of factors that can broadly be categorised into three groups; 1) personnel characteristics (e.g. fitness, body mass, gender, age, injury profile, load carriage experience), 2) task characteristics (e.g. total external load, distribution of load, load carriage equipment design, movement speed, march duration, work to rest ratio) and 3) environment (e.g. terrain, heat, humidity, altitude) in which the task is performed. Some of these factors may in some situations be controlled (e.g. marching speed) whilst others are not (e.g. ambient temperature). There is a dynamic interaction between these factors which ultimately impact on an individual's load carriage capacity. When undertaking mission planning it is important for commanders to consider the factors influencing load carriage capacity and identify the likely burden. *Abstract cont'd over the page*

RELEASE LIMITATION

Approved for public release

Abstract cont'd

Such information will guide amongst other things, duration of operations, work to rest schedules, total load limits, replenishment and logistical support requirements. This planning is critical to the maintenance of dismounted personnel's operational effectiveness, battlefield performance and ultimately mission success. This document reviews existing scientific literature and established work physiology models for the development of evidence-based load carriage guidelines. These guidelines will place emphasis upon critical task elements and human factors with the intent of assisting commanders' in making decisions about tasks involving load carriage. It is important to understand however that load carriage guidelines are not definitive nor can they be generically applied to all load carriage scenarios, rather they establish general principles to assist the commander in mission planning. Furthermore setting maximum absolute load limits or maximum intensity limits may be difficult to implement in the field and may not always be operationally possible. It is understood that mission requirements, operational constraints and threat profile dictate load carriage requirements. However mission planning needs to balance, to some degree, the requirements of the operational environment against the various physical considerations of personnel load carriage ability. Therefore, mission planners and commanders alike need to understand the impact of various load carriage variables on an individual's load carriage capacity and operational effectiveness.

Published by Human Protection and Performance Division DSTO Defence Science and Technology Organisation 506 Lorimer St Fishermans Bend, Victoria 3207 Australia Telephone: (03) 9626 7000 Fax: (03) 9626 7999 © Commonwealth of Australia 2012

AR-015-444 October 2012

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

Load Carriage Capacity of the Dismounted Combatant - A Commander's Guide

Executive Summary

There is a universal requirement for military personnel to be capable of moving their body mass plus an external load. The load carried by military personnel is typically comprised of clothing, protective ensemble (i.e. body armour, helmet), combat equipment (i.e. webbing, weapon systems, ammunition, power sources, radio) and sustainment stores (i.e. food and water). In addition, the diversity and complexity of military operations often requires dismounted personnel to carry mission-specific equipment and move, on foot, through various climates and terrains for long and continuous periods.

The total load varies dependent upon factors such as mission requirements and threat profile. While the equipment carried is often crucial for mission success and survival, there are numerous examples through history demonstrating the adverse effect of heavy load carriage on soldier performance and operational success. Recent evidence suggests that the individual's load is increasing with advancing technologies and personal protective equipment. During current operations in Afghanistan anecdotal reports suggest that 50 kg is a common load carried by dismounted personnel whilst patrolling. Excessive external load may adversely impact upon an individual's physical capability (e.g. mobility, lethality) and health (e.g. survivability, thermal burden). It is therefore important we learn the lessons of the past and duly consider load carriage in mission planning involving dismounted personnel.

An individual's load carriage capacity is influenced by a multitude of factors that can broadly be categorised into three groups; 1) personnel characteristics (e.g. fitness, body mass, gender, age, injury profile, load carriage experience), 2) task characteristics (e.g. total external load, distribution of load, load carriage equipment design, movement speed, march duration, work to rest ratio) and 3) environment (e.g. terrain, heat, humidity, altitude) in which the task is performed. Some of these factors may in some situations be controlled (e.g. marching speed) whilst others are not (e.g. ambient temperature). There is a dynamic interaction between these factors which ultimately impact on an individual's load carriage capacity. When undertaking mission planning it is important for commanders to consider the factors influencing load carriage capacity and identify the likely burden. Such information will guide amongst other things, duration of operations, work to rest schedules, total load limits, replenishment

and logistical support requirements. This planning is critical to the maintenance of dismounted personnel's operational effectiveness, battlefield performance and ultimately mission success.

The purpose of this document is to review existing scientific literature and established work physiology models for the development of evidence-based load carriage guidelines. These guidelines will place emphasis upon critical task elements and human factors with the intent of assisting commanders' in making decisions about tasks involving load carriage. It is important to understand however that load carriage guidelines are not definitive nor can they be generically applied to all load carriage scenarios, rather they establish general principles to assist the commander in mission planning.

An established predictive model has been used throughout this document to predict the physiological burden (i.e. energy cost) of representative load carriage scenarios. As a general guide this model indicates that a 10 kg increase in external load is metabolically equivalent (i.e. energy cost) to an increase in walking speed of 0.5 km/hr or a change in terrain gradient from level to 1%. An additional model provides commanders with guidance as to how long a continuous load carriage task can likely be sustained. As an example, it predicts that an average soldier can carry 40 kg at 5.5 km/hr over hard flat terrain for approximately 14 km. If that external load is increased to 50 kg the distance decreases to 9 km. If the walking speed is increased to 6.5 km/hr (from 5.5 km/hr) the likely distance the task can be sustained for decreases to approximately 6 km. This guidance highlights that total external load may at times be over-emphasised, to the detriment of other important factors e.g. walking speed. Commanders and mission planners therefore need to consider (at the very least) walking speed in conjunction with total external load given the potential for walking speed to illicit larger increases in energy cost for a load carriage task.

The multi-factorial nature of human load carriage capacity makes it difficult to set maximum load limits. Furthermore setting external load and/or intensity limits may be difficult to implement in the field and may not always be operationally possible. It is understood that mission requirements, operational constraints and threat profile dictate load carriage requirements. However mission planning needs to balance, to some degree, the requirements of the operational environment against the various physical considerations of personnel load carriage ability. Therefore, mission planners and commanders alike need to understand the impact of various load carriage variables on an individual's load carriage capacity and operational effectiveness.

This report has been divided into two parts; Part A discusses in detail the scientific aspects of load carriage while Part B provides a brief summary of scientific findings and guidance to commanders for tasks requiring load carriage. Within Part A, Section 2 outlines the methods applied to assess the physiological demand of load carriage. Sections 3 to 6 outline the physiological and biomechanical considerations of load carriage, the potential adverse health outcomes and the impact on tactical performance of the dismounted combatant. Within Part B, Section 7 provides a brief summary of science relating to military load carriage and highlights key areas of consideration for the commander. Section 8 identifies strategies to mitigate the impact of load carriage. Section 9 brings together all key physiological considerations to assist commanders in

a) understanding the burden of load carriage, and b) planning a load carriage task. This information has been packaged in a table (Table 6), which provides commanders with an appreciation for the ability of individuals to (continuously) sustain a given load carriage task, under various operationally relevant parameters. It is important to understand that continuous work sustainment time does not consider other factors such as muscle discomfort and muscle fatigue, load carriage equipment integration and load carriage conditioning. These factors are known to reduce load carriage capacity before physiological factors (e.g. energy depletion), under certain conditions.

Finally, this guide is then distilled into an overview of key considerations for the management (i.e. preparation, execution and recovery) of personnel undertaking repeated load carriage tasks.

Authors

Jace R Drain

Human Protection and Performance Division

Jace graduated from Australian Catholic University with a BExSci (2002), then completed a B.AppSci (Honours) (2003) and a PhD in Exercise Physiology (2009) at Deakin University. Since joining DSTO in January 2010, Jace's work effort has primarily been divided between the Physical Employment Standards (PES) project and soldier physical mobility/load carriage tasks. Jace has taught Exercise Physiology and related subjects at tertiary level for over 8 years and has considerable experience in exercise physiology research.

Robin Orr

Special Operations Headquarters

LT Orr enlisted in the Australian Regular Army in 1989 and was posted to the Royal Australian Infantry Corps before transferring to the Physical Training Instructor stream (1995-2005). Commissioned in 2006, he served as both a clinical physiotherapist and as a human performance officer. In this latter role Rob has undertaken physical conditioning reviews of selection, conditioning and rehabilitation programs and processes for the Army Recruit Training Centre (2006), Royal Military College (2007-2010), and Special Operations Headquarters (2011-). Transferring to the Army reserve and taking up an appointment with Bond University in 2012, Rob's academic qualifications include a Bachelor of Further Education and Training (2002) and a Masters of Physiotherapy Studies (2006). He has recently (2012) submitted his doctoral thesis on soldier load carriage.

Renee L Attwells Human Protection and Performance Division

Renée Attwells completed a BAppSc (Ex&SportSc) with honours in Biomechanics at the University of Sydney in 1999. For the next two years she worked in clinical and sports biomechanics laboratories in Sydney before moving to the United Kingdom. During the period 2002–2005 Renée was employed by Loughborough University supporting Dstl on its programme to enhance soldier mobility and load carriage. Renée joined DSTO in 2006 in the Human Performance area and has been involved in

support to Land 125, DMO and the Physical Employment Standards project. Renee was awarded an MPhil in 2008 from Loughborough University. The thesis was entitled "Military Load Carriage: The effect of increased load, gender and load carriage duration on gait and posture". Renee is currently the DSTO S&T Officer for Diggerworks

Daniel C Billing Human Protection and Performance Division

Daniel Billing completed a Bachelor of Applied Science (Human Movement) at the University of Ballarat in 1999 and was then employed by the Victorian (VIS) and Tasmanian (TIS) Institutes of Sport over a period of 6 years working in a number of scientific disciplines including biomechanics, physiology and physical preparation. Daniel then completed a PhD and Postdoctoral Fellowship in the area of human performance monitoring with Swinburne University of Technology, the Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) for micro Technology and the Australian Institute of Sport (AIS). Dan joined DSTO in 2006 as the lead for the Physical Employment Standards (PES) research programme. In addition to the PES research programme, Daniel now leads a broad range of human performance research activities.

Contents

ABBREVIATIONS/ ACRONYMS

1.	INTR	ODUCTION TO MILITARY LOAD CARRIAGE	1
PA	RT A:	SCIENTIFIC FOUNDATIONS OF LOAD CARRIAGE	4
2.		HODS FOR ASSESSING THE PHYSIOLOGICAL DEMANDS OF LOAI	
		RIAGE	
	2.1	Energy Cost	4
		Predicting Energy Cost	
		Estimating Sustainment Time	
	2.4	Literature Search Criteria	6
3.		IOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS OF PROLONGED LOAD	
		RIAGE	
		Total External Load	
		Load Distribution	
		Movement Speed	
		Distance and Duration	
		Terrain	
	3.6	Climate	14
		Altitude	
	3.8	Nutritional Requirements	16
	3.9	Personnel Characteristics	17
4.	BIOM	IECHANICAL CONSIDERATIONS OF PROLONGED LOAD	
	CARF	RIAGE	19
	4.1	Load Carriage Equipment Integration	20
5	ροτε	NTIAL ADVERSE HEALTH OUTCOMES OF LOAD CARRIAGE	22
5.		Acute Injuries	
		Chronic Injuries	
		Mounted Patrols	
		Gender Differences	
	3.4	Gender Differences	20
6.		CT OF LOAD CARRIAGE ON TACTICAL PERFORMANCE	
		Mobility	
	6.2	Lethality and Survivability	31
PA	RT B:	GUIDE TO MILITARY LOAD CARRIAGE	33

7.	A RI	VIEW OF THE SCIENCE	. 33
	7.1	Introduction	. 33
	7.2	External Load	. 34
	7.3	Load Distribution	35
	7.4	Movement Speed	. 37
	7.5	Distance and Duration	
	7.6	Terrain	40
	7.7	Climate	42
	7.8	Altitude	44
	7.9	Hydration Requirements	45
	7.10	Mobility, Lethality and Survivability	
8.	STR	ATEGIES TO MITIGATE THE IMPACT OF LOAD CARRIAGE	48
	·	ATEGIES TO WITTIGATE THE IWITACT OF LOAD CARRIAGE	10
	8.1		-
	-	Physical Training and Load Carriage Command Strategies	48
	8.1	Physical Training and Load Carriage	48
9.	8.1 8.2	Physical Training and Load Carriage Command Strategies	48 51
9.	8.1 8.2	Physical Training and Load Carriage	48 51
	8.1 8.2 SUM	Physical Training and Load Carriage Command Strategies	. 48 . 51 . 54
	8.1 8.2 SUM	Physical Training and Load Carriage Command Strategies	. 48 . 51 . 54
10.	8.1 8.2 SUM REFI	Physical Training and Load Carriage Command Strategies	. 48 . 51 . 54 . 59

DSTO-TR-2765

ABBREVIATIONS/ ACRONYMS

ADF	Australian Defence Force
AIRN	Army individual readiness notice
BM	body mass
hr	hour
kJ	kilojoule
kJ/hr	kilojoule per hour
kg	kilogram
km	kilometre
km/hr	kilometre per hour
L/hr	litres per hour
L/min	litres per minute
m	metre
m min	metre minute
min	minute
min NATO	minute North Atlantic Treaty Organisation
min NATO U.S.	minute North Atlantic Treaty Organisation United States of America
min NATO U.S. VO ₂	minute North Atlantic Treaty Organisation United States of America oxygen uptake
min NATO U.S. VO ₂ VO _{2max}	minute North Atlantic Treaty Organisation United States of America oxygen uptake maximum pulmonary oxygen uptake
min NATO U.S. VO ₂ VO _{2max} VO _{2peak}	minute North Atlantic Treaty Organisation United States of America oxygen uptake maximum pulmonary oxygen uptake peak pulmonary oxygen uptake
min NATO U.S. VO ₂ VO _{2max} VO _{2peak} °C	minute North Atlantic Treaty Organisation United States of America oxygen uptake maximum pulmonary oxygen uptake peak pulmonary oxygen uptake degrees Celsius
min NATO U.S. VO ₂ VO _{2max} VO _{2peak} °C	minute North Atlantic Treaty Organisation United States of America oxygen uptake maximum pulmonary oxygen uptake peak pulmonary oxygen uptake degrees Celsius greater than

DSTO-TR-2765

1. Introduction to Military Load Carriage

There is a universal need for military personnel to be capable of moving their body mass plus an external load both administratively over a prolonged duration and tactically at high speed. The load of military personnel is typically comprised of clothing, protective ensemble (i.e. body armour, helmet), combat equipment (i.e. webbing, weapon systems, ammunition, power sources, radio) and sustainment stores (i.e. food and water). In addition, the diversity and complexity of military operations often requires dismounted personnel to carry missionspecific equipment and move, on foot, through various climates and terrains for long and continuous periods. The total load varies dependent upon factors such as mission requirements and threat profile. The U.S. Army have classified combat loads accordingly as either fighting load (21.7 kg), approach march load (32.7 kg) and emergency approach march load (> 32.7 kg) (van Dijk, 2007). The Australian Army generally defines combat loads as patrol order, marching order (light), and marching order (heavy) which are intended for operations up to eight, 24 and 72 hours respectively. Whilst the combat load terminologies and exact loads may vary between the coalition armies, the classification, purpose and constituents of the load are similar.

While the equipment carried is often crucial for mission success and survival, its weight, when in excess, has led to combat deaths (Marshall, 1980, Mayville, 1987, Schwendiman, 2008). In the Great War, heavy loading of the foot soldier reduced marching ability and was claimed to have altered the tactics of war (Lothian, 1921). During the Second World War heavy loads were attributed with causing deaths of American troops in the water during the D-Day landings at Omaha Beach (Mayville, 1987). There are numerous other examples through history demonstrating the adverse effect of heavy load carriage on soldier performance and operational success.

Recent evidence suggests that the individual's load is increasing with advancing technologies and personal protective equipment. In East Timor, on Operation CITADEL, it was reported that Australian soldiers carried loads in excess of 45 kg, with gunners and signallers carrying loads in excess of 50 kg. The load of their webbing and body armour were thought to hinder

DSTO-TR-2765

Australian soldiers chasing fleeing militia (Breen, 2000). During current operations in Afghanistan it has been suggested that 50 kg is the typical load carried by dismounted personnel (Dean, 2004). Excessive external load may adversely impact upon an individuals' physical capability (e.g. mobility, lethality) and health (e.g. survivability, thermal burden). It is therefore important we learn the lessons of the past and duly consider load carriage in mission planning involving dismounted personnel.

An individual's load carriage capacity is influenced by a multitude of factors that can broadly be categorised into three groups; 1) personnel characteristics (e.g. fitness, body mass, gender, age, injury profile, load carriage experience), 2) task characteristics (e.g. total external load, distribution of load, load carriage equipment design, movement speed, march duration, work to rest ratio) and 3) environment (e.g. terrain, heat, humidity, altitude) in which the task is performed (Figure 1). Some of these factors may in some situations be controlled (e.g. marching speed) whilst others are not (e.g. ambient temperature). There is a dynamic interaction between these factors which ultimately impact on an individual's load carriage capacity. When undertaking mission planning it is important for commanders to consider the factors influencing load carriage capacity and identify the likely burden. Such information will guide amongst other things, duration of operations, work to rest schedules, total load limits, replenishment and logistical support requirements. This planning is critical to the maintenance of dismounted personnel's operational effectiveness, battlefield performance and ultimately mission success.

The purpose of this document is to review existing scientific literature and established work physiology models for the development of evidence-based load carriage guidelines. These guidelines will place emphasis upon critical task elements and human factors with the intent of assisting commanders' in making decisions about tasks involving load carriage. It is important to understand however that load carriage guidelines are not definitive nor can they be generically applied to all load carriage scenarios, rather they establish general principles to assist the commander in mission planning.



Figure 1 Factors influencing individual load carriage capacity

This report has been divided into two parts; Part A discusses in detail the scientific aspects of load carriage while Part B provides a brief summary of scientific findings and guidance to commanders for tasks requiring load carriage. Within Part A, Section 2 outlines the methods applied to assess the physiological demand of load carriage. Sections 3 to 6 outline the physiological and biomechanical considerations of load carriage, the potential adverse health outcomes and the impact on tactical performance of the dismounted combatant. Within Part B, Section 7 provides a brief summary of science relating to military load carriage and highlights key areas of consideration for the commander. Section 8 identifies strategies to mitigate the impact of load carriage. Section 9 brings together all key physiological considerations to assist commanders in a) understanding the burden of load carriage, and b) planning a load carriage task. This guide is then distilled into a practical overview for commanders to assist in preparing, executing and recovering from load carriage tasks.

PART A: SCIENTIFIC FOUNDATIONS OF LOAD CARRIAGE

2. Methods for Assessing the Physiological Demands of Load Carriage

2.1 Energy Cost

The energy cost associated with load carriage can be reported in a variety of forms. The rate of kilojoule (kJ) expenditure per unit of time (e.g. minute, hour) or oxygen uptake (VO₂) are the most common means for reporting the energy cost of a task. Throughout this report the energy cost of load carriage will be expressed as kilojoule per hour (kJ/hr) however this approach is for consistency and is not intended to indicate superiority of one unit of measurement over another.

2.2 Predicting Energy Cost

Undertaking well-controlled scientific research can be a long and resource intensive process. Under certain circumstances it may be appropriate for researchers to develop models, based on well-established scientific principles that allow for the accurate prediction of real-world outcomes. Pandolf and colleagues (Pandolf et al., 1977) developed a model to predict the energy cost of loaded walking (up to 50 kg) on level and graded terrain up to a speed of 7.9 km/hr. This equation has been further validated across a range of gradients (0-10%), external loads (4.1 to 40 kg) and walking speeds (3.2-6.0 km/hr) (Duggan and Haisman, 1992, Pimental and Pandolf, 1979). Total external load is not the only consideration for load carriage capacity. Speed of movement, terrain surface and gradient of the terrain are also important factors determining the physiological cost of load carriage and have been included in the model developed by Pandolf and colleagues. This equation has been applied to representative load carriage scenarios throughout this document to predict the physiological burden of load carriage. However it must be noted that the Pandolf equation does not take into consideration

factors such as muscle discomfort/fatigue or injury which may reduce mechanical efficiency and consequently increase energy cost.

The predictive equation is;

$$M = 1.5 W + 2.0 (W + L)(L/W)^{2} + \eta(W + L)[1.5 V^{2} + 0.35 VG]$$

Where M = metabolic rate, watts; W = subject weight, kg; L = load carried, kg; V = walking speed, m/s; G = grade, %; η = terrain factor (terrain factors: 1.0; asphalt, 1.1; dirt road; 1.2, light brush, 1.5; heavy brush, 1.8; swampy bog, 2.1; loose sand).

2.3 Estimating Sustainment Time

The capacity for personnel to maintain a given work intensity, or "sustainment time", is particularly relevant to commanders and mission planners making decisions about tasks involving load carriage. Energy cost is one means for reporting the physiological burden of a load carriage task. The percentage of an individuals' maximum aerobic capacity (VO_{2max}) demanded is another means for reporting the physiological burden and understanding sustainment time. The tolerable duration for which personnel can sustain a load carriage task is primarily determined by the %VO_{2max} that the task demands and the duration of the activity (Figure 2). Current guidelines suggest that the average person can likely sustain 30-40% VO_{2peak} for an 8-hour period, 50% for 3-4 hours, 60% for 2 hours, 70-75% for 1 hour and 100% for several minutes (Astrand et al., 2003, Bink, 1962, Saha et al., 1979, Wu and Wang, 2002). This inverse relationship between task duration and intensity forms the basis for the sustainment time model (Figure 2). The sustainment time model is based on a series of predictions/estimations, and allows for the estimation of performance in both prolonged and short-duration tasks. The maximum aerobic capacity (i.e., VO_{2peak}) is predicted from beep test performance (Léger and Lambert, 1982) whilst the energy cost (VO₂) of marching is estimated using an established (Pandolf et al., 1977) and independently validated (Duggan and Haisman, 1992) model. This allows the estimation of relative work intensity of given a task (i.e., %VO_{2peak}). The relative task intensity is then utilised to estimate the maximum tolerable duration that a work intensity can be sustained (i.e., sustainment time) based on previous

research (Astrand et al., 2003, Saha et al., 1979, Wu and Wang, 2002) (Figure 2). The energy cost and sustainment time models have been utilised to assess load carriage burden and predict load carriage performance. The information gained from these models is distilled in Section 8 with the provision of practical guidelines and tables to assist commanders in the planning and preparation for load carriage tasks.



Figure 2 Estimated sustainment time based on results from Wu and Wang (2002), Astrand et al. (2003) and Saha et al. (1979).

2.4 Literature Search Criteria

The review of literature investigating load carriage was limited to studies published in peerreviewed journals and reports produced by military labs (e.g. US Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine). Load carriage has been widely investigated in a number of different contexts (e.g. military, hiking, firefighters, Nepalese porters) however studies were limited to research that either investigated military populations or research with direct application to the military context.

3. Physiological Considerations of Prolonged Load Carriage

Prolonged load carriage is typically undertaken at low to moderate intensity (e.g. 2 - 6 km/hr) over distances of 5 to 20 km (e.g. patrolling, administrative marches. The loads carried by personnel during prolonged marches may range from 20 kg to in excess of 50 kg. Under these load carriage conditions physical stress can manifest in a variety of forms, and the main physiological factors influencing load carriage capacity are discussed below.

3.1 Total External Load

It is well-established that as external load increases the energy cost of load carriage in standing, walking, running and stair climbing also increases (Beekley et al., 2007, Crowder et al., 2007, Pandolf et al., 1977, Quesada et al., 2000) (Figure 3). Numerous studies (Bastien et al., 2005, Beekley et al., 2007, Christie and Scott, 2005, Crowder et al., 2007, Quesada et al., 2000) have described a linear increase in energy cost with increased pack weight. Regardless of the precise nature of this relationship, a weight load threshold exists beyond which load carriage capability is significantly degraded (Haisman, 1988). Where this threshold (or "tipping point") lies for each individual is unknown. Epstein et al. (Epstein et al., 1988) suggest that maximal load carriage efficiency (as determined by energy expenditure) is achieved at 4.5-5.0 km/hr walking speed with a load weighing 40-50% of body mass (e.g. 32 to 40 kg for an 80 kg soldier). Whereas Harman et al. (2000) recommend that personnel should avoid walking faster than 4.8 km/hr with external loads approaching 47 kg.

March performance (i.e. time to complete distance) has been shown to diminish with increasing external load (Derrick et al., 1963, Harman et al., 1999, Harper et al., 1997, Knapik et al., 1997). Knapik et al. (Knapik et al., 1997) showed that U.S. special forces soldiers decreased walking speed during a maximal effort 20 km road march with increasing external loads (34 to 61 kg). Interestingly, the decrease in walking speed with increasing external load resulted in reduced energy expenditure. This would indicate that energy expenditure is not the sole determinant of self-selected work intensity (i.e. walking speed), and other factors (e.g.

DSTO-TR-2765

shoulder discomfort, pack pain) may become more important with increasing external loads (Knapik et al., 1997, Myles and Saunders, 1979).

Such guidelines, whilst informative, must be interpreted with caution. The interaction between soldier characteristics, task characteristics and environment (Figure 1) determine this limit to individual load carriage capacity and the relationship between these variables mean that generic guidelines cannot be applied. Walking speed, surface gradient and walking surface characteristics (e.g. asphalt, loose sand) together with external load, predominantly determine the energy cost of load carriage (Pandolf et al., 1977). For example, the energy cost of marching with a 35 kg load at 3.5 km/hr was shown to be same as marching with 20 kg load at 4.5 km/hr for a group of South African soldiers (Christie and Scott, 2005). As a general guide the energy cost associated with a 10 kg increase in external load is equivalent to an increase in walking speed of 0.5 km/hr (Figure 3). Commanders therefore need to consider walking speed in conjunction with total external load during mission planning given the potential for walking speed to illicit larger increases in energy cost for a load carriage task.



Figure 3 Energy cost of load carriage with increasing external load as predicted using the equation of Pandolf et al.(1977).

3.2 Load Distribution

For dismounted personnel, load may be distributed to the head (helmet, night vision goggles), trunk (webbing, pack, body armour), hips/thigh (webbing), hands (weapon) and feet (boots). With this in mind, the distribution of external load has been shown to influence energy cost and load carriage capacity. It is well established that loads distributed close to an individual's centre of mass minimises postural disturbances and results in decreased energy expenditure (Knapik et al., 2004, Legg et al., 1992, Ramanathan and Datta, 1971). For loads carried within a backpack or webbing load carriage system, load placement should be low to mid-back when crossing elevated and/or uneven terrain in order to improve balance. Conversely, when walking on flat terrain, heavier loads should be placed higher on the back to reduce the energy costs of carrying the load (Knapik et al., 2004). Whilst laboratory studies (Abe et al., 2004, Stuempfle et al., 2004) have observed a reduction in energy cost with high load placement (compared to low) when walking on a level treadmill with 15-25% body mass, these results must also be balanced against accessibility of stowed items. Regardless of terrain and vertical load distribution, the load should be balanced across the back, i.e. right to left side (Watson et al., 2008).

For loads carried around the body, evidence shows that the feet and hands are the least efficient location for load carriage (Soule and Goldman, 1969, Taylor et al., 2011). It has been shown that every 1 kg added to the foot increased energy expenditure by 7-10% and that every 1 kg added to the thigh increased energy expenditure by 4% (Knapik et al., 2004). Likewise load in the hands results in increased energy expenditure compared to torso load carriage (Datta and Ramanathan, 1971, Knapik et al., 2000). Modifications to equipment and/or redistribution of weight around the bodies' centre of mass are potentially important for the individual warfighter. However, perhaps more importantly Commanders and subordinates need to carefully consider whether the benefit of the additional external load outweighs the associated increase in energy cost when making decisions about equipment taken on missions and how and where it is carried.

3.3 Movement Speed

For dismounted personnel, the speed of load carriage (marching speed) is largely dictated by mission requirements. Administrative (i.e. non-tactical) tasks are typically undertaken at a moderate pace (e.g. 3.0-6.0 km/hr) whilst tactical tasks may involve movement at various speeds from slow walking to sprinting. An increase in marching speed for a given load will increase the energy cost of the activity (Abe et al., 2004, Bastien et al., 2005, Christie and Scott, 2005, Soule and Goldman, 1969, Soule et al., 1978). Furthermore when all other variables are held constant, an increase in walking speed is likely to cause a greater increase in energy cost than increases in external load (Charteris, 2000, Christie and Scott, 2005, Pal et al., 2009, Soule et al., 1978). The well-established model (Pandolf et al., 1977) shows that the energy cost associated with a 2.0 km/hr increase in walking speed (from 3.0 km/hr) elicits a 54 % greater energy expenditure than a 20 kg increase (from 20 kg) in external load (Table 1).

 Table 1 Relative (percent) increase in energy cost associated with increases in either external load or marching speed predicted using the equation of Pandolf et al. (1977; based on average soldier body mass of 80.0 kg).

Reference marching condition; 20 kg, 3.0 km/hr, flat dirt road			
Load and increase (%) in energy cost Speed and increase (%) in energy cost			
30 kg; ↑ 12%	4.0 km/hr; ↑ 36%		
40 kg; † 28%	5.0 km/hr; ↑ 82%		
50 kg; ↑ 50%	6.0 km/hr; ↑ 139%		

When marching speed and external load combinations are categorised according to energy cost (Table 2) the results suggest that personnel may be able to tolerate heavy external loads if marching speed is appropriately reduced, consequently defining a maximum load is not a straightforward activity. On the other hand, a relatively light load (e.g. 25 kg) can be too heavy if marching speed is too fast. This observation is based upon metabolic (energy) cost only and does not take into consideration other important factors such as muscle discomfort and altered biomechanics during prolonged and/or heavy load carriage tasks which are discussed in later sections.

In addition to the speed of movement, the nature of the marching speed should also be considered, i.e. "set" speed and 'self-selected' (or self-paced) speed. Studies have observed that individuals tend to self-select a reduced marching speed with increasing external load (Hughes and Goldman, 1970, Knapik et al., 1997). When allowed to self -regulate walking speed during prolonged load carriage with varying external loads, individuals appear to often (Hughes and Goldman, 1970) but not always (Knapik et al., 1997) adjust speed to maintain a relatively constant work rate (i.e. energy expenditure). Individuals typically undertake load carriage at a set speed (e.g. marching in formation) rather than at self-selected speeds (e.g. roving sentry). However there may be advantages in some situations (e.g. administrative movements, load carriage training) to allow personnel to move at a self-selected pace (whilst remaining within required deadlines) during heavy load carriage.

Table 2 Workload classification based on energy cost of different external load and marching speed
combinations. Workload categories taken from Sharkey et al. (Sharkey and Davis, 2008)
and based on predicted energy cost (light < 1296 kJ/hr, moderate 1296-1852 kJ/hr, heavy
1852-2408 kJ/hr, very heavy > 2408 kJ/hr).

External load	Marching speed	5 km march	10 km march
	3.0 km/hr	Light	Light
	4.0 km/hr	Light	Moderate
20 kg	5.0 km/hr	Moderate	Heavy
	6.0 km/hr	Heavy	Very Heavy
	3.0 km/hr	Light	Light
	4.0 km/hr	Moderate	Moderate
30 kg	5.0 km/hr	Heavy	Heavy
	6.0 km/hr	Very Heavy	Very Heavy
	3.0 km/hr	Light	Moderate

DSTO-TR-2765

	4.0 km/hr	Moderate	Moderate
40 kg	5.0 km/hr	Heavy	Heavy
	6.0 km/hr	Very Heavy	Very Heavy
	3.0 km/hr	Moderate	Moderate
	4.0 km/hr	Moderate	Heavy
50 kg	5.0 km/hr	Heavy	Very heavy
	6.0 km/hr	Very heavy	Very heavy

3.4 Distance and Duration

The duration of load carriage can range from minutes to hours, potentially over consecutive days. The combination of duration or distance of load carriage along with marching speed and total external load primarily influence an individuals' load carriage sustainment time. Climate, terrain and individual characteristics also contribute to load carriage capacity. It is important to understand the inverse relationship between task duration and task intensity i.e. the harder personnel work the shorter the duration the task can be sustained. If the demands (i.e. external load, environment) of a mission cannot be altered, the use of rest breaks may assist in delaying and/or preventing fatigue and possible decrements in personnel performance.

Some studies (Blacker et al., 2009, Blacker et al., 2011, Epstein et al., 1988, Patton et al., 1991) but not all (Quesada et al., 2000, Sagiv et al., 1994) have shown that the energy cost of load carriage progressively increases during prolonged (i.e. \geq 120 min), constant load marching. A similar increase in the cardiovascular demands during prolonged exercise (known as "cardiovascular drift") is well described (Coyle and Gonzalez-Alonso, 2001). It appears that heavier external loads and/or faster marching speeds augment the progressive increase in energy cost during prolonged load carriage (Blacker et al., 2011, Epstein et al., 1988, Patton et al., 1988, Patton et al., 2011, Epstein et al., 1988, Patton et al., 2011, Epstein et al., 2

al., 1991). An increase in the energy cost of constant load marching is attributed, at least in part, to decreased mechanical efficiency due to altered biomechanics (Patton et al., 1991).

During self-paced prolonged load carriage (all other variables held constant), walking speed has been shown to decrease over time due to increasing energy costs (Hughes and Goldman, 1970, Knapik et al., 1997). It is suggested the decrease in walking speed offsets the progressive upward drift in energy cost of load carriage to maintain a constant work intensity (i.e. % maximal oxygen uptake, VO_{2max}). Furthermore it is suggested that under prolonged load carriage conditions torso and/or upper body muscle fatigue and localised discomfort become more important limiting factors than metabolic and cardiovascular influences (Knapik et al., 1997, Koerhuis et al., 2009).

3.5 Terrain

Personnel may be required to carry loads in a variety of environments (jungles, hills, deserts) which may influence load carriage capacity. The gradient (e.g. flat, incline, decline) and surface characteristics (e.g. bitumen, sand, swamp) of the terrain are important factors when considering load carriage capacity and energy cost.

It is well established that the energy cost of load carriage increases when walking up inclined terrain, compared to flat walking (Crowder et al., 2007, Knapik et al., 2004, Sagiv et al., 2000, Santee et al., 2001). It has been shown that the energy cost of load carriage when marching with a 25 kg load at between 5 and 5.6 km/hr at a 5% and 10% gradient increases approximately 45 and 108% respectively compared to flat marching (Crowder et al., 2007, Sagiv et al., 2000). As a guide a 1% increase in surface gradient increases energy expenditure equivalent to a 10 kg increase in external load (Pandolf et al., 1977). Unlike inclined terrain, the energy cost of downhill walking is decreased compared to level walking (Blacker et al., 2009, Santee et al., 2001). Downhill walking however, does not demonstrate a linear relationship with energy cost. The energy cost of downhill walking appears to reach a minimum at -8%. Beyond this point energy cost begins to increase, compared to less severe downhill gradients, due to the work required to maintain stability (Santee et al., 2001).

With respect to surface characteristics of the terrain, Soule and Goldman (Soule and Goldman, 1972) developed coefficients indicating the relative energy cost of walking across various terrains with loads ranging from 10 to 40 kg. The order of least to most demanding walking surfaces is as follows; blacktop (asphalt), dirt road, light brush, heavy brush, swampy bog, loose sand and soft snow. The predicted energy cost of load carriage would increase almost 50% if the surface changed from a dirt road to loose sand if all other variables (walking speed, load and gradient) were held constant (Table 3).

Reference marching condition; 20 kg, 3.0 km/hr, flat dirt road			
Load	Speed	Gradient	Terrain
30 kg; † 12%	4.0 km/hr; ↑ 36%	1 %; † 13%	Light brush; ↑4%
40 kg; † 28%	5.0 km/hr; ↑ 82%	2 %; † 26%	Heavy brush; ↑17%
50 kg; † 50%	6.0 km/hr; † 139%	5 %; ↑ 65%	Sand; ↑ 42%

 Table 3 Relative (percent) increase in energy cost of altered load carriage conditions (compared to reference marching condition) predicted using the equation of Pandolf et al. (1977).

3.6 Climate

The negative impact of hot and cold conditions on military operations is well documented (Astrand and Saltin, 1961). With this in mind, climactic conditions (e.g. temperature, humidity, rainfall, snow) can impact significantly upon the physiological burden of load carriage. High ambient temperature and/or humidity can increase the thermoregulatory stress associated with work (i.e. load carriage) and reduce work capacity. Work in hot environments may also increase dietary carbohydrate and/or fluid requirements however this is largely dependent upon work duration and intensity. The metabolic heat generated during load carriage in a thermo-neutral environment can be sufficient to cause considerable heat stress. Therefore undertaking strenuous work in hot and/or humid conditions can augment the thermal burden associated with load carriage tasks. Counter-measures such as decreased work-rates and/or increased rest periods may be required to prolong work and decrease the

risk of thermal injury. Refer to Army work-rest tables for further guidance (Department of Defence, 2007).

Dehydration can further impair both physical performance and tolerance to hot environments, consequently regular consumption of water to replace lost fluids is vital. Therefore when undertaking load carriage tasks in hot and/or humid conditions it becomes increasingly critical that work-rest tables (Department of Defence, 2007) are closely monitored and fluids are consumed regularly. However it is equally important to ensure that fluid consumption does not exceed sweat loss. Over consumption of water can lead to a potentially fatal condition known as hyponatraemia, which has been reported in soldiers undertaking basic training and during prolonged marching (Galun et al., 1991, Garigan and Ristedt, 1999).

During cold stress, basal metabolic rate can increase to intensities equivalent to approximately 40% VO_{2max} due to shivering thermogenesis (Eyolfson et al., 2001). The energetic cost of maintaining thermal balance in a cold environment can represent a considerable additional metabolic load on the body (Cheung, 2010). Furthermore an increase in heat production through shivering can accelerate the depletion of carbohydrate stores (Haman et al., 2005). Shivering during load carriage is unlikely due to the metabolic heat production associated with marching. However, conducting slow deliberate patrols with frequent stops may be sufficient to induce shivering. Cold weather and rainfall can also impact on the energy cost of load carriage and load carriage capacity of dismounted personnel. Rainfall and snow can alter the surface characteristics of the terrain (e.g. mud, water, snow) and increase the clothing and equipment burden. Studies investigating energy requirements in military populations have suggested increased energy requirements during cold conditions (Johnson and Kark, 1947, Swain et al., 1949, Tharion et al., 2005). An increase in the weight and/or bulk of clothing and equipment carried by dismounted personnel and winter terrain (e.g. snow, mud) can also increase energy expenditure (Gray et al., 1951, Soule and Goldman, 1972). Two studies investigating energy expenditure in moderately active soldiers in cold environments (mean temperature -18°C to -22°C) have shown similar findings, with energy expenditure found to be approximately 18,000 kJ per day (Jones et al., 1993, King et al., 1993). In line with these findings the current U.S. Military recommended dietary allowance for males in environments

DSTO-TR-2765

that are colder than 14°C is 18,900 kJ per day. Insufficient food intake may in fact be a greater issue for personnel in cold environments than increased energy requirements. Increased palatability of rations and/or supplemental ration packs may be options to ensure personnel are adequately nourished whilst on operations in cold environments.

3.7 Altitude

The atmospheric oxygen levels decline as one ascends in elevation above sea-level which may reduce physical work capacity. It is suggested this effect becomes more evident at elevations above 1500 m (Sharkey and Davis, 2008). Due to the decreased oxygen availability work rates should be adjusted (i.e. reduced). Repeated exposure to this environment will lead to physiological adaptations (acclimatisation) that improve an individual's ability to work at altitude. Increased aerobic fitness also increases an individual's ability to cope with work at altitude. Altitude can also increase fluid loss (compared to sea-level) so care must to taken to ensure adequate fluids are consumed.

3.8 Nutritional Requirements

Load carriage demands (i.e. external load, marching speed, march distance) together with environmental conditions (i.e. climate, terrain) largely influence the nutritional requirements of dismounted personnel. Individual characteristics such as body mass, lean body mass and gender also influence nutritional requirements. Studies have demonstrated that soldiers' daily energy expenditure can range from 12,000 kJ for sedentary occupations to 28,000 kJ for special forces selection (Forbes-Ewan, 1999). The upper end of this energy expenditure range is comparable to energy expenditures observed in elite endurance athletes (Rodgers and Spector, 1986, Sando et al., 1986). A number of studies that have measured energy expenditures of soldiers undertaking common dismounted tasks have observed average daily energy expenditures in the range of 15,000 to 19,000 kJ (Booth and Coad, 2002, Booth et al., 2001, Forbes-Ewan et al., 2008). Combat rations typically provide 15, 500 kJ (NATO, 2010) and these results suggest that this may be inadequate for some prolonged and/or intense tasks involving load carriage. Personnel may therefore require supplementation (e.g. emergency ration chocolate bars) to meet energy requirements under such conditions. Inadequate

nutritional recovery from prior tasks may also decrease the work capacity of dismounted personnel and increase susceptibility to injury on subsequent days.

As previously mentioned regular consumption of fluid is critical to the health and performance of dismounted personnel. A decrease in fluids as little as 2% body mass can degrade both physical and mental performance and increase susceptibility to heat injury. Decreased attention and vigilance as well as decreased ability to perform complex mental processing tasks have also been observed with dehydration. Average sweat rates for infantry soldiers during operations in hot-dry and hot-humid conditions have been shown to be 1.0-1.7 L/hr (Amos et al., 1998, Forbes-Ewan, 1999). Based on these results the fluid requirements for personnel undertaking prolonged load carriage (e.g. 6-8 hr patrols) in hot and humid conditions (> 30°C) may approach 10 litres. Every kilogram of weight (1 litre of water = 1 kg) added to dismounted personnel increases the load carriage requirement. However the negative effects of dehydration (> 2% body mass) potentially outweigh the increased physiological burden of additional water supplies. Personnel should ensure that sufficient water is carried on operations and not sacrificed to reduce pack mass. With that in mind it is important that fluid consumption does not exceed sweat loss as over consumption of water can be equally harmful to an individual's health.

3.9 Personnel Characteristics

Evidence suggests certain physical characteristics are more favourable to load carriage performance. Body mass, fat free mass, absolute muscular strength and absolute VO_{2max} have been identified as predictors of load carriage capacity (Bilzon et al., 2001, Haisman, 1988, Lyons et al., 2005, Pandorf et al., 2002, Rayson et al., 2000, Ricciardi et al., 2007). Several studies have demonstrated superior performance in load carriage tasks in heavier individuals, when compared to lighter individuals (Bilzon et al., 2001, Harman et al., 2008, Harper et al., 1997). It is often observed that a larger body mass is associated with a larger muscle mass, greater absolute aerobic capacity and greater strength (Patterson et al., 2005). A fixed load would also represent a lower of percentage of body mass in heavier personnel when compared to lighter personnel. This is pertinent to gender differences in load carriage capacity as females have on average lower body mass and lower relative muscle mass compared to

DSTO-TR-2765

males. However this assumption should be used with caution as research suggests that the correlation between body composition (i.e. % fat free mass) and body mass is weak. Furthermore current evidence suggests that western societies are increasing in both body mass and body fat due to increased caloric intakes and reduced physical activity.

With regard to establishing maximum load limits it must be emphasised that operational loads should not be set as a percentage of body mass. Military load carriage studies frequently express external weight loads relative to body mass. This is useful in understanding the effect of external load on various physical parameters such as the external weight load threshold. However reporting external weight load as a relative rather than absolute weight is not relevant to military operations. Whilst there may be the capacity to share section equipment this distribution is influenced by various factors including occupational specialty and physical conditioning as well as body mass. Regardless there are minimum absolute external loads that personnel must carry during load carriage tasks and these minimum loads are not altered by body mass.

4. Biomechanical Considerations of Prolonged Load Carriage

As with physiological considerations, the biomechanical considerations of prolonged load carriage are affected by a multitude of variables (e.g. walking speed, distance, terrain surface and gradient, total load, load distribution, load carriage equipment, individual characteristics). Accordingly it is essential to appreciate how these factors can impact upon individual load carriage capacity. Short term (< 20 min) load carriage of up to 36 kg results in minimal change in posture and gait (Johnson et al., 2000, Martin et al., 1982, Orloff et al., 1999). Studies investigating more prolonged load carriage however have observed alterations in ground reaction forces, lower limb joint angles, increased forward lean, decreased stride length, increased stride frequency, increased duration of the double support phase and increased discomfort (Attwells et al., 2006, Harman et al., 2000, Knapik et al., 1992, Lloyd and Cooke, 2000, Polcyn et al., 2002). Similar to increased march duration, increased external load is also associated with increased forward lean, increased ground reaction forces and altered muscle activity (Attwells et al., 2006, Birrell et al., 2007, Cook and Neumann, 1987, Goh et al., 1998, Harman et al., 1992, Harman et al., 2000, Kinoshita, 1985, Martin and Nelson, 1986). It is also suggested as load increases so to does the risk of back injury (1992, Knapik et al., 1992). Changes in posture, joint angles, ground reaction forces and gait may increase fatigue and the risk of injury (Birrell et al., 2007, Goh et al., 1998).

Research indicates that load carriage exposure need not be prolonged to increase the risk of adverse health outcomes such as musculoskeletal injuries. During a two-legged drop landing task landing kinematics are altered and maximum ground reaction forces increase with the addition of body armour, helmet and weapon, compared to the unloaded state (Sell et al., 2010). Furthermore during short-duration load carriage (3 min) changes in forces exerted on the upper and lower back have been observed (Lafiandra and Harman, 2004). These results indicate that carrying an external load increases stress on the body and the risk of injury during both prolonged (e.g. marching) and acute (e.g. exiting vehicles) load carriage tasks.

4.1 Load Carriage Equipment Integration

Poor load carriage equipment integration may be a major limiting factor in load carriage capacity. Blisters and back pain are commonly observed during military load carriage (Knapik et al., 1992, Reynolds et al., 1999). Discomfort associated with blisters or lower back pain can lead to postural and biomechanical alterations which can decrease gait efficiency (i.e. increase energy expenditure) and increase susceptibility to injury. Changes to the load distribution (e.g. backpack v. front-back pack) with heavy (61 kg) but not moderate loads (34 and 48 kg) have been shown to decrease blister likelihood (Knapik et al., 1997).

Large increases in subjective discomfort, particularly in the back, shoulder and neck region, have also been observed under prolonged load carriage conditions (Harper et al., 1997, Knapik et al., 1992, Knapik et al., 1997). Evidence suggests that upper body discomfort and muscle fatigue (e.g. rucksack palsy) may become a limiting factor during prolonged load carriage (Attwells et al., 2006). A decrease in grenade throwing performance following loaded marching has also been attributed, at least in part, to muscle (shoulder) discomfort. Muscle discomfort is caused not only by the magnitude of pressure associated with an external load but also the exposure time.

Load carriage equipment that transfers some of the load from the shoulders to the waist has been shown to reduce shoulder discomfort (pressure) and improve load carriage performance (Holewijn, 1990, Holewijn and Lotens, 1992, Lafiandra and Harman, 2004). It has been demonstrated (Lafiandra and Harman, 2004) that approximately 30% of the vertical force generated by a backpack could be transferred to the lower back/hips (from the shoulders) by using an external frame backpack with a hip belt.

Load carriage equipment integration is also a critical consideration for personnel not undertaking prolonged load carriage (i.e. marching) tasks. Evidence suggests that prolonged and/or repetitive wear of protective body armour can cause compression of nerves in both the upper extremity (e.g. brachial plexus) and lower extremity (e.g. lateral femoral cutaneous nerves). Nerve compression has been associated with pain and paresthesias, a skin sensation such as burning, prickling, itching, or tingling. Shoulder and upper extremity pain and

paresthesias has been reported in soldiers wearing body armour weighing approximately 5 kg (Bhatt, 1990). Nerve compression in the legs has also been associated with body armour use in soldiers (Fargo and Konitzer, 2007). It was suggested that the lower edge of the body armour ensemble rests on the inguinal region leading to compression of the lateral femoral cutaneous nerves and subsequent pain and paresthesias in the legs. These symptoms are potentially aggravated by either prolonged standing (e.g. sentry/checkpoint roles) or sitting (e.g. mounted patrols).

5. Potential Adverse Health Outcomes of Load Carriage

The level of load carriage exposure and an individual's risk profile influence susceptibility to a load carriage injury. The risk of injury increases with the magnitude of load carriage exposure, i.e. compound effects of increased weight, increased march duration or increased frequency. With regards to the individual's injury risk profile, low or high levels of joint flexibility, low muscular strength or aerobic fitness, smoking and alcohol consumption are all linked with increased incidence of load carriage related injury (Deuster et al., 1997, Knapik et al., 2001). However, the primary risk factor for injury in both males and females is aerobic fitness (Bell et al., 2000, Deuster et al., 1997, Knapik et al., 2001). A lower level of aerobic fitness will place an individual under greater physiological stress (i.e. required to work at a greater relative percentage of maximum aerobic capacity) when compared to an individual with a higher level of aerobic fitness.

5.1 Acute Injuries

Weight load, march duration, load distribution, terrain and individual fitness levels together with load carriage equipment design contribute to the incidence of acute load carriage injuries (Bessen et al., 1987, Daube, 1969, Knapik et al., 1992). As mentioned previously, the most common acute injury whilst undertaking military load carriage is blisters (Knapik et al., 1992, Knapik et al., 1992, Reynolds et al., 1990, Reynolds et al., 1999). Knapik et al. (Knapik et al., 1997) observed 35% of the total injuries over a 20 km march with a 46 kg load were blisters. The cause is attributed to frictional forces between the socks/shoes and the skin. Blister incidence increases with load carriage duration; discomfort due to such an injury may result in gait compensation. Alterations in gait may change the direction and magnitude of ground reaction force, increasing a dismounted personnel's susceptibility to injury. Changes to gait may also decrease marching efficiency, increase energy cost, and thus impact upon load carriage sustainment time.

Acute back pain may also become limiting during load carriage tasks. In a study where infantry soldiers undertook a strenuous load carriage task (20 km with 46 kg load), 50% of the

soldiers who were unable to complete the march cited back related problems (Knapik et al., 1992). The risk of back pain or discomfort as a result of prolonged load carriage appears to increase with increasing external loads and has been attributed to the amplified forces on the spine (Goh et al., 1998, Lafiandra and Harman, 2004, Reynolds et al., 1990). Beyond, increased trunk forward lean, increased ground reaction forces and altered walking gait (Attwells et al., 2006, Birrell et al., 2007, Goh et al., 1998, Harman et al., 2000, Polcyn et al., 2002) changes in spinal curvature in response to acute loaded carriage have also been observed (Fowler et al., 2006, Orloff and Rapp, 2004).

Brachial plexus palsy or "Rucksack palsy" is another acute injury associated with load carriage (Knapik et al., 2004). It is proposed that this injury is caused by traction and or compression of the C5 and C6 nerve roots of the brachial plexus by the load carriage system shoulder straps (Knapik et al., 2004). Typical symptoms include numbness, pain and weakness of the upper extremity. Weight of load, load carriage duration and terrain all increase the risk of this injury (Bessen et al., 1987, Daube, 1969, Lafiandra and Harman, 2004). Changes to equipment design, including adjustment of shoulder straps, horizontal sternum straps and the use of a hip belt, have been associated with a decreased incidence of this injury (Bessen et al., 1987, Makela et al., 2006).

5.2 Chronic Injuries

Evidence suggests the cumulative effect of heavy load carriage likely contributes to stress fractures of the lower limb and pelvis and intervertebral disc injury. A review by the Australian Defence Force Army Recruit Training Centre showed that lower limb stress fractures accounted for more that 50% of total time lost to injury in the period 2005-2007. Marching accounted for the greatest percentage of these lower limb stress fractures (Pope, 2007). Stress fracture injuries are multi-factorial and at present no definitive model exists to identify when a possible load carriage capacity has been reached. Susceptibility is greater in females, tall individuals and those of a white ethnic background (Knapik et al., 2004). However, a lack of physical conditioning appears to be the greatest risk factor as evidenced by the high incidence of lower limb stress fracture injuries amongst military recruits (Knapik et al., 1996, Reynolds et al., 1999).

DSTO-TR-2765

The Repatriation Medical Authority (RMA) released a statement of principles that may link load carriage to intervertebral disc prolapse (RMA, 2007). Amongst other causative factors, including driving motor vehicles, smoking habits and penetrating injuries, cumulative load may be associated with disc prolapse. Cumulative load (or "load factor") is the product of, a) the weight of the load lifted or carried (kg); and b) the time the load was lifted or carried (hrs). The RMA report suggests that 150,000 is the minimum loading over the preceding ten years before it can be reasonably hypothesised that load carriage is linked as a causative factor of this type of injury. To put this into perspective, this equates to dismounted personnel carrying 30 kg for 5000 hours over a 10 year period. It is not unreasonable to suggest that an infantry soldier would potentially undertake 500 hours of load carriage/ manual handling per year.

Similar factors influence the incidence of both acute and chronic injuries. The level of load carriage exposure and an individuals' risk profile largely determine whether an injury occurs and the subsequent severity. Heavy load weight is a risk factor for both acute and chronic injuries, with risk increasing as load and/or exposure increases. Regardless of the load carriage scenario, certain individuals are at increased risk of load carriage injuries. Low or high levels of flexibility (Knapik et al., 2001), low muscular strength and/or endurance, smoking, alcohol consumption and gender are associated with increased injury incidence when carrying loads (Deuster et al., 1997). However, the primary risk factor for military training-related injuries in both males and females is a low aerobic capacity (Bell et al., 2000, Deuster et al., 1997, Knapik et al., 2001). Load carriage sustainment time is also largely influenced by aerobic capacity. The higher an individuals' aerobic capacity (i.e. VO_{2max}) the lower the relative task intensity (% VO_{2max}) compared to a less aerobically fit individual. This reinforces the need for personnel to undertake physical training that includes both general aerobic conditioning and loaded marching (see Section 7.1). As previously discussed (see Section 5.1) equipment design can also influence injury causation.

5.3 Mounted Patrols

Mounted personnel are not exposed to the chronic load carriage demands experienced by dismounted personnel however the weight of combat and protective equipment may nevertheless increase the risk of adverse health outcomes. It has been shown that landing
biomechanics are adversely affected with the addition of an external load (body armour, helmet and weapon) (Sell et al.). Therefore exiting vehicles, a common task during mounted operations, when performed with an external load (e.g. body armour, helmet, weapon) is associated with an increased risk of musculoskeletal injury.

Mounted patrols may also increase the risk of musculoskeletal disorders due to exposure to whole-body vibration (WBV). Whole-body vibration such as that experienced by vehicle occupants can increase the risk for musculoskeletal injury, in particular the spine (Brinckmann et al., 1998, Makhsous et al., 2005, Seidel, 2005). Whole-body vibration exposure experienced by occupational drivers has been shown to lead to muscle fatigue and weakening of the lumbar musculature, resulting in decreased spinal support and increased risk of spinal injury (Pope et al., 1998, Seidel and Griffin, 2001).

Sitting in vehicles with an external load (e.g. body armour) may exacerbate the effects of WBV and the subsequent risk for musculoskeletal injury. Similar to mounted personnel, police officers from Northern Ireland were exposed to two types of spinal stress; WBV and shoulder loading. They were required to wear body armour weighing ~ 8 kg for the duration of their shift, which typically lasted eight to 12 hours. Results showed a trend for decreased height of lumbar vertebra which was statistically significant for the second lumbar vertebra. Furthermore, when sitting in vehicles with an external load (e.g. body armour) is combined with poor sitting posture, exposure to WBV may further increase risk of musculoskeletal injury (e.g. lumbar disc failure) (Pope et al., 1998). Whilst there is a lack of research in the military context, evidence strongly suggests there is the potential for mounted personnel to experience adverse health outcomes as a consequence of WBV exposure. These results reinforce the importance of equipment-personnel integration along with personnel-platform integration in performance and injury management of personnel. Therefore, whilst mounted operations may not have the obvious health risks associated with dismounted roles there is nonetheless increased risk of adverse health outcomes to personnel due to the external load carried and exposure to WBV.

5.4 Gender Differences

There are various physical and physiological differences between men and women. On average, males when compared to females have;

- Greater body mass (Plowman and Smith, 2003)
- Greater stature (Plowman and Smith, 2003)
- Lower body fat (Plowman and Smith, 2003)
- Greater muscle mass (McArdle et al., 2007, Plowman and Smith, 2003)
- Greater maximal ventilation (Schwartz et al., 1988)
- Greater cardiac output (McArdle et al., 2001)
- Higher concentration of haemoglobin (McArdle et al., 2001)
- Higher VO_{2max} (McArdle et al., 2007, Shephard et al., 1988)
- Greater absolute upper body strength (McArdle et al., 2001)
- Greater absolute lower body strength (McArdle et al., 2007)

These differences are typically manifested as reduced physical capacities in females (e.g. muscular strength, muscular endurance and aerobic capacity) when compared to males. Lifting or carrying the same absolute load will therefore represent greater physiological strain (i.e. greater percentage of maximum tolerance limit) for an average female, when compared to an average male. This potentially increases the onset of fatigue and the risk of adverse health outcomes.

The differences in physical capacity between males and females appear to be largely related to size and stature rather than gender per se (Taylor and Groeller, 2008). Whilst on average, women have a reduced load carriage capacity (compared to males) there are examples of females out-performing males (Patterson et al., 2005). When comparisons in strength and power are made relative to lean body mass or muscle cross-sectional area the gender differences largely disappear (Hurley and Hagberg, 1998, Miller et al., 1993). Therefore the principal reason for the discrepancy in performance capacity between men and women is that, on average, women have lower absolute body and muscle mass (Gallagher and Heymsfield, 1998) and a higher relative body fat mass. Whilst gender tends to confer certain physical

attributes and capacities, these capacities (e.g. muscular strength and aerobic capacity) are highly trainable regardless of gender (Castro et al., 1995, Eddy et al., 1977, Staron et al., 1994).

Operational load carriage requirements are primarily influenced by mission requirements and environmental conditions. Therefore absolute physical capacities (e.g. muscular strength, muscular endurance, aerobic capacity) are essential to successful task performance. Despite potential gender-related differences in load carriage capacity between personnel, occupational role rather than gender will influence load carriage task requirements. Whilst understanding differences in physical capacities between males and females may have little operational relevance it likely has greater significance during load carriage conditioning and physical training. A number of key considerations include;

- Walking with load alters gait and biomechanics. Marching speed is the product of stride length and stride frequency. People of shorter stature often adopt shorter stride lengths and higher stride frequencies to maintain a given pace (Knapik et al., 2004) (Yamasaki et al 1991). Female participants have been shown to increase stride frequency rather than stride length in response to increased loads or marching speeds. Differences in gait patterns appear to be related to stature rather than gender (Yamasaki et al 1991). During prolonged load carriage tasks the average female, and men of smaller stature, will be at a distinct physical and physiological disadvantage relative to the average male. It is suggested that there is a point where stride frequency can no longer be increased, and further increases in speed must be facilitated by increases in stride length. In addition during marching tasks personnel are often forced to maintain a given pace, or "keep in step". This practice may limit an individuals' self-selected stride length and stride frequency. Shorter individuals (e.g. females) may therefore be required to stride at a length that is greater than their preferred and/or safe stride length. This "overstriding" can place additional shearing stress on the pelvis, leading to stress reactions or stress fractures in the pelvic bones (Pope, 1999).
- Females are also susceptible to nutritional deficiencies, menstrual dysfunction and overuse conditions when undertaking physical training. The load carriage conditioning program needs to include "de-loading" periods to allow adequate recovery. Supplementary aerobic conditioning and strength training should also be included in a load carriage training

program to maximise physical adaptations and subsequent load carriage capacity (Orr et al., 2010).

• A lack of consideration of female requirements in load carriage equipment design may contribute to reduced female load carriage performance (Harper et al., 1997) and increase risk of adverse health outcomes (Fullenkamp et al., 2008). Problems with pack fit, shoulder strap fit and position of the waist belt have been identified as common concerns with load carriage equipment by females (Harman et al., 1999, Knapik, 2000, Ling et al., 2004)

6. Impact of Load Carriage on Tactical Performance

Tactical load carriage, for the purpose of this discussion, is defined as short to moderate distance (i.e. < 5 km) and slow to maximal movement speeds (2 km/hr to sprinting). Whilst administrative movements could be described as aerobic activities, tactical movements can be aerobic and/or anaerobic activities, primarily dependent upon the level of enemy engagement. Tactical movements are typically completed in a fighting load ranging from 20-35 kg. Examples of these movements may include tracking and engaging the enemy and breaking contact.

Individual physical mobility limitations, more so than fatigue per se, are considered the main factors limiting tactical movement. The primary factors potentially contributing to reduced tactical movement capacity are discussed below. It must be emphasised however that we cannot discount physiological factors discussed previously with respect to administrative movements contributing to decreased tactical performance. For example the effects of prior tasks (e.g. prolonged load carriage) may deplete energy stores, induce muscle fatigue, increase heat storage or diminish cognitive performance, all of which can decrease physical (i.e. tactical) performance. In line with this, Lieberman et al. (Lieberman et al., 2002) demonstrated that a modest energy deficit over the course of a single day of combat training led to a significant decrease in cognitive performance. Similarly a 53 hr combat training exercise that combined sleep loss with physical, nutritional, psychological and heat stress demonstrated a substantial degradation of cognitive performance (Lieberman et al., 2005). The cognitive performance of dismounted personnel potentially impacts upon their physical mobility, lethality and survivability.

6.1 Mobility

As external load increases there is an associated decrease in mobility on the battlefield. In fact it is suggested that army tactics were changed during the First World War in response to a load induced reduction in soldier mobility (Lothian, 1921). Studies have shown that external load can affect performance of key military tasks and thus compromise mobility when

DSTO-TR-2765

compared to an unloaded state (Martin and Nelson, 1985). Holewijn et al. (Holewijn and Lotens, 1992) demonstrated that for every 1 kg external load, there was an average performance loss of 1% during tasks including jumping, sprinting and obstacle course completion. A recent investigation (Silk et al., 2010) demonstrated an average decrease of approximately 1.5% in soldier performance for every 1 kg increase in a load range of 19.1 to 29.2 kg across four mobility assessments. The assessment tasks included an agility course, sprinting, jumping and a simulated section attack.

Obstacle courses have also been used extensively within military performance studies, with a large number of studies showing an increased time to complete the course with increased load (Bassan et al., 2005, Harman et al., 1999, Hasselquist et al., 2008, Holewijn and Lotens, 1992, Martin and Nelson, 1985, Pandorf et al., 2002). A meta-analysis conducted by the U.S. Army Research Laboratory showed a significant linear relationship between total load and obstacle course completion time (Bassan et al., 2005). Every 1 kg increase in external load, in the range of 15-42 kg, increased completion time for the 500 m obstacle course on average 7.88 sec (Bassan et al., 2005).

Load distribution and physical mobility has been investigated with equivocal results. It is speculated that differences in total load, distribution of load and soldier conditioning together with differences in assessment methods may account, at least in part for this. Derrick et al. (Derrick et al., 1963) showed no significant difference between upper and whole torso load distribution on soldier mobility. In contrast, Holewijn and Lotens (Holewijn and Lotens, 1992) observed that weight distributed to the lower back, compared to the upper back, was more detrimental to performance across a series of physical mobility assessments. It should be noted that both load conditions (16 kg) decreased performance, compared to the reference (unloaded) condition, however the relative decrements in performance were consistently greater for the lower back load. The practical significance of the differences between upper and lower back load distribution are unknown.

Given many movements are performed prone and the fact that the overall dimensions of dismounted personnel tend to increase as a function of load this has the potential to impact on

movement through confined spaces. The increased physical space resulting from an increase in load from 14 kg to 27 kg was associated with a two-fold increase in time to complete a 3.7 m crawl (Pandorf et al., 2002). It was suggested that the decreased crawling space and altered movement technique contributed to the reduced performance with the 27 kg load. The impact of increased load on physical space needs to be considered not only for obstacle negotiation, but negotiating smaller spaces in urban or ship environments and entering and exiting patrol vehicles.

The relationship between load carriage and physical mobility is complicated by the overall load, how it is distributed on the body and the physical space taken up by the load, the task being undertaken, and the physical characteristics of the individual. Therefore there is no means of providing single guidance of the impact of external load and distribution of load on physical mobility.

6.2 Lethality and Survivability

Load carriage activities may impact upon the lethality of dismounted personnel as it has been shown that marksmanship performance can decrease following load carriage tasks (Knapik et al., 1991, Tharion et al., 1993). A decrease in marksmanship following load carriage tasks may be explained by a reduced ability to stabilise the weapon when firing due to muscle fatigue, elevated respiration, elevated heart rate or increased hand tremors (Knapik et al., 1991, Tharion et al., 1993). It must be emphasised that these studies did not establish a direct cause and effect between load carriage per se and reduced marksmanship. It is possible that other activities that achieve similar levels of physical fatigue may result in similar decrements in marksmanship. Furthermore, not all studies have found a decrease in marksmanship following load carriage (Knapik et al., 1997, Patterson et al., 2005). The conflicting results between studies may be attributable to differences in time between the completion of a loaded march (pre-fatiguing task) and the commencement of the marksmanship assessment. Longer time periods between the march and firing assessments allow for greater recovery from the physiological stress associated with loaded marching (e.g. decreased heart rate and decreased hand tremors) (Leyk et al., 2007, Leyk et al., 2006). Some studies (Harper et al., 1997, Holewijn and Lotens, 1992), but not all (Knapik et al., 1991, Knapik et al., 1997) have demonstrated a

DSTO-TR-2765

decrement in grenade throwing performance (distance and/or accuracy) following load carriage activities. A direct causal effect of load carriage on grenade throwing performance has not been established.

Load carriage may also impact upon lethality and/or survivability through altered cognitive functioning. Mahoney et al. (Mahoney et al., 2007) observed that, when walking with a 40 kg load, vigilance decreased (when compared to an unloaded state). The decrement in vigilance task performance was further exacerbated when walking involved obstacle avoidance. The results also showed a greater decrement in vigilance task performance in response to tactile and visual stimuli compared to auditory. These results suggest that personnel, when carrying heavy loads, are more likely to overlook or misinterpret visual cues when patrolling and visually scanning for enemy and threats. More recently May et al. (May et al., 2009) investigated the impact of a backpack load (30% body mass) on decision making ability in response to auditory stimuli. The results demonstrated that a backpack load degraded mental processing as evidenced by increased reaction time and response error. Preceding load carriage tasks may also impact upon survivability through potentially diminished cognitive performance in tactical situations. Johnson and Knapik (Johnson et al., 1995) showed that in response to prolonged (20 km) load carriage, mental alertness diminished with increasing load (34 to 61 kg).

PART B: GUIDE TO MILITARY LOAD CARRIAGE

7. A Review of the Science

7.1 Introduction

All members of defence may, at some time be required to carry load. Whilst often this entails traditional webbing and back pack loads, the loads carried by defence members can take many shapes and forms.



Members from 1 Joint Public Affairs Unit Field Tam Iraq Photo: Department of Defence

A sailor prepares to fight a potential fire aboard the ship whilst deployed on Operation HELPEM FREN Photo: WO2 Gary Ramage

DSTO-TR-2765

7.2 External Load

'I saw a rain and sweat drenched man in green, laden like a pack mule, aged 21 going on 50, cutting his way through the jungle by day to find and attack the enemy, then laying all night in paddy fields or on trails in ambush...'

Brigadier Colin Kahn, DSO, former CO of the 5 RAR Dawn Service Address, 1987 detailing mental images that summed up Vietnam quoted in Australia's Vietnam War by Doyle et al

Military personnel, regardless of service, may be required to carry loads as part of their vocation. These loads primarily serve four functions, these being; sustainment (e.g. food, water), protection (e.g. helmet, body armour), lethality (e.g. weapon, ammunition, grenades) and command and control (e.g. radio, battle management system). As the individual is asked to carry more, the load carried increases which in turn increase the energy requirements of the individual to carry the load. This increase in energy cost occurs regardless of whether personnel are standing, walking, running or climbing stairs.

Commanders and personnel conducting load carriage tasks need to carefully consider whether the benefit of any additional external load outweighs the additional energy cost and potential consequences associated with heavy load carriage (e.g. performance decrements in vigilance, responsiveness, decision-making, movement speed and marksmanship).

Based on predicted energy cost and sustainment time:

- An extra 10 kg carried will reduce marching speed by 0.5 km/hr to maintain the same energy expenditure.
- An extra 10 kg carried will reduce marching sustainment time from approximately 3 hrs to 2 hrs, assuming a base load of 40 kg and marching speed 5.5 km/hr over hard, flat terrain.



Picture thought to be of two infantry soldiers deployed to East Timor Photo: Department of Defence

7.3 Load Distribution

'The soldier must be considered as an integrated system, rather than simply the aggregation of individual components'

COL J. Blain Director Diggerworks

Generally, personnel have loads distributed around their bodies. Helmets and Night Vision Devices on the head; backpacks, webbing systems, and self-contained breathing apparatus suspended from the shoulders and distributed around the torso; weapon systems, mine sweeping wands and other stores in the hands; Pistols or Gas masks on the thighs; and boots on the feet.

DSTO-TR-2765



A soldier of the First Mentoring Task Force on patrol in the Miribad Valley Region of Afghanistan. Photo: Department of Defence

Just as load weight impacts on the energy cost of carrying the load, so too does the distribution of load. Generally loads carried on the extremities are more costly than loads carried closer to the trunk. Optimal zones for load carriage are shown in Appendix A.

When moving across flat terrain and/or not likely to come under threat (i.e. agility unlikely to be required), optimal load placement is higher on the back, central and close to the trunk. This loading position will minimise the energy cost of load carriage. When crossing uneven terrain (cross country patrol), an unstable surface (ship boarding party) or likely to come under threat, loads should be placed centrally on the low to mid back and close to the trunk to improve balance and agility.

7.4 Movement Speed

'When you get shot at, you move as fast as you can…but it wasn't very fast. You are just tired. So tired.

Justin Kalentis, US Army, wounded in Afghanistan, discussing the loads they were carrying quoted in *The Seattle Times* (14 Feb 11)

As movement speed increases, the energy cost of carrying load increases. Some research even suggests that the speed of load carriage task is a more important factor than the weight of the load carried. As a general guide the associated energy cost of an increase in walking speed of 0.5 km/hr is equivalent to increasing external load by 10 kg.

Load and speed have a generally inverse relationship whereby increases in load reduce the speed at which load carriage tasks are completed. For example the energy cost of marching with a 35 kg load at 5.0 km/hr is similar to marching with a 50 kg load at 4.2 km/hr.

Based on predicted energy cost and sustainment time:

- By reducing marching speed from 5.0 km/hr to 3.5 km/hr you can carry an additional 15 kg for the same energy cost.
- Doubling external load from 20 to 40 kg whilst walking over hard, flat terrain at 3.0 km/hr will increase energy expenditure by ~ 29%. Doubling walking speed from 3.0 to 6.0 km/hr whilst marching with a 20 kg load over hard, flat terrain will increase energy expenditure by ~ 132%.
- Increasing marching speed from 5.0 to 6.0 km/hr with a 20 kg load over hard, flat terrain will decrease sustainment time from approximately 7 hrs to 3 hrs.

DSTO-TR-2765

An Australian soldier struggles with his load in Somalia on Operation SOLACE Photo: WO2 Gary Ramage



7.5 Distance and Duration

'...It was a series of forced marches, brief battles, consolidation and then further advances'

Captain Don Beard, RMO 3 RAR discussing the pressure on soldiers over the winter months during the Korean conflict quoted in 'The Battle of Kapyong' by Breen.

As with speed of movement and load, there is an inverse relationship between task intensity and task duration. The harder the task (load or speed) the shorter the period in which the task can be sustained. In addition, as task duration increases, there is an increase in energy costs for maintaining the current effort. This occurs more readily with heavier loads or faster speeds of movement.

A potential means of limiting the impact of task duration on personnel load carriage ability is through the use of rest periods. Rest periods, are frequently used by Nepalese porters, allowing them to carry loads of over 100% body weight for long durations (work to rest ratio approximately 2.5:1).



Soldiers from the 1st Mentoring and Reconstruction Task Force's Combat Team Alpha, take a well earned rest after patrolling through the village of Sarab in Afghanistan. Photo: CPL Rachel Ingram.

7.6 Terrain

'I have seen men standing knee deep in the mud of a narrow mountain track, looking with complete despair at yet another insurmountable ridge. Ridge after ridge, ridge after ridge, heart breaking, hopeless, futile country.

CAPT F Piggen, 3Bn, in a letter to his headmaster after reaching the end of the Kokoda trail quoted in At the Front Line: Experiences of Australian Soldiers in World War II by Johnston.

Defence personnel are required to negotiate various terrain types during load carriage tasks. From moving ship decks on small shipping vessels out at sea to land terrain in operational theatres that can vary from flat marsh lands to shale rocky hills in a single mission.

Terrains possess two challenges to load carriage tasks, there are terrain grade and terrain type. As the grade of terrain increases the energy cost of carrying a given load at a given speed increases. As a general guide 1% increase in surface gradient increases energy expenditure equivalent to a 10 kg increase in external load. Decline gradients have been shown to decrease energy cost, compared to walking over flat terrains. However, gradients beyond -8% begin to increase energy cost, compared to less severe downhill gradients, due to the increased work required to maintain stability.

Traversing harder, firmer surfaces (e.g. asphalt, dirt road), when compared to softer surfaces (e.g. swampy bog, loose sand), has been found to be more energy efficient when carrying a given load, at a given speed, over a given gradient (Figure 4).

DSTO-TR-2765

Lower	ENERGY COST				Higher
Sealed Road	Dirt Path	Light Bush	Heavy Bush	Swampy bog	Loose sand

Figure 4. Scalar representation of energy costs associated with different terrain types.

Based on predicted energy cost and sustainment time:

- Marching through heavy bush, compared to a dirt road will increase energy cost by a similar amount to a 10 kg increase in load carried.
- Marching at 4.0 km/hr with a 40 kg load over hard terrain up a 2% gradient is equivalent to marching at 4.0 km/hr with a 60 kg load over hard, flat terrain.



Australian soldiers on an INTERFET patrol in East Timor on Operation ANNANDALE Photo: WO2 Al Green

7.7 Climate

'A scorching day ahead. We do a route march through Durban and about 10 miles around it.

PTE Lynch quoted in Somme Mud: The Experiences of an Infantryman in France 1916-1919 by Lynch (Edited by Davis)

Heat can impact on the load carrier through increasing thermal stress, and potentially lead to heat related injuries. In addition heat, through increasing fluid requirements, may increase the load an individual must carry. This increased load in turn, can have an additive effect and increase the risk of heat injury / illness.

In the cold, personnel use energy shivering and again may need to consume (and therefore carry) additional food supplies. Additional clothing to keep warm will increase total external load, which will increase the energy cost of load carriage.

Climate not only impacts on load carriage energy costs directly, but indirectly through changing terrain surfaces. For example, rain can increase an individual's load through the requirements to carry additional clothing and the additional weight of water laden equipment as well as through altering the surface of a dirt path to a muddy track, in turn increasing energy requirements to lift boots cacked in mud as well as to traverse a slippery path.

Based on predicted energy cost and sustainment time:

- Continuous marching at 5.5 km/hr with a 40 kg load over hard, flat terrain is sustainable for less than one hour in warm, dry conditions (30°C, 30% rh)
- Continuous marching at 5.5 km/hr with a 40 kg load over hard, flat terrain is sustainable for less than 30 min in hot, dry conditions (50°C, 10% rh)



A Special Operations Task Group member kneels in the snow of the Uruzgan mountains in Afghanistan. Photo: Department of Defence

7.8 Altitude

At higher altitudes, generally above 1500 m, atmospheric oxygen levels decline. This in turn can reduce an individual's physical work capacity. However, repeated exposure to these higher altitudes will lead to physiological adaptations improving the individual's capacity to work at these levels. Thus highlighting the importance of pre-deployment acclimatisation and graduated in country preparation.



Soldiers from Bravo Company 4RAR patrol the high grounds in East Timor on Operation TANAGER. Photo: WO2 Gary Ramage

Based on predicted energy cost and sustainment time:

• Based on continuous marching at 5.5 km/hr with a 40 kg load over hard, flat terrain the maximum march distances at sea level, 1500 and 2400 m are 14, 12 and 9 km respectively.

7.9 Hydration Requirements

'We were young and inexperienced with regard to Vietnam. This was Charlie's backyard and we were in it, plus all this weight, and it would be interesting to know how much weight we lost through sweat.'

SGT Frank Cashmore, SASR quoted in SAS: Phantoms of War by Horner

Load carriage demands, combined with environmental conditions, influence the member's nutritional requirements. Depending on the nature of the task, energy expenditure can exceed the energy provided in combat rations, increasing the need for dietary supplementation. The regular intake of fluids is vital to performance and illness prevention. Although water increases load weight, the increased external load needs to be balanced against the potential decrease in physical capacity associated with dehydration.

Commanders are to remain vigilant regarding the potential for heat injuries and illnesses and ensure they are well versed in supporting doctrine (Tri-service documentation is available on the Defence Occupational Health and Safety website under 'Heat Injury Management').

Based on predicted energy cost and sustainment time:

• Based on continuous marching at 5.5 km/hr with a 40 kg load over hard, flat terrain the maximum march distances whilst 0, 4 and 6% dehydrated are 14, 10 and 8 km respectively.

DSTO-TR-2765



A solider from the Fourth Battalion Group stops for a drink while patrolling up the highest feature in East Timor to set up a retransmission station.

Photo: SGT William Gutherie

7.10 Mobility, Lethality and Survivability

'Ponk's men gave chase but they had no chance of catching up with the panicked militia who were unencumbered by the heavy webbing and flak jackets worn by their Australian pursuers.'

quoted in Mission Accomplished: East Timor by Breen

Increases in external load weight, with its associated potential increase in physical load space, are associated decreases in mobility. Time to cover a given distance and the speed and ability to overcome obstacles are examples of these mobility limitations.

Heavy load carriage may lead to a degradation of marksmanship and grenade throw ability. Where possible, members should be provided with a suitable period of recovery (approximately 30 minutes) before taking on a task which may require application of weapon systems (eg. relief in place tasks).



A sailor from HMAS Toowoomba's boarding party prepares to enter the Rigid Hulled Inflatable Boat on Exercise TRITON STORM 2 Photo: Department of Defence A soldier from the Reconstruction Task Force searches an abandoned building whilst on patrol north of Tarin Kowt, Afghanistan. Photo: CPL Neil Ruskin

8. Strategies to Mitigate the Impact of Load Carriage

8.1 Physical Training and Load Carriage

Research has demonstrated that load carriage capacity can be enhanced with appropriate physical conditioning. Repeated exposure to walking with backpack loads has been shown to decrease the energy cost of load carriage (Knapik et al., 2004) and increase aerobic fitness (Rudzki, 1989). With respect to general physical training, programs that involve a combination of aerobic training (running) and strength training appear to be most successful in improving load carriage capacity, compared to training either component of fitness alone (Harman et al., 1997, Harman et al., 2008, Knapik et al., 2004). The improvement in load carriage performance from the combined training has been attributed to improvements in both upper body strength and aerobic fitness. The combination of loaded marching together with aerobic and strength training improves load carriage performance even further (Knapik et al., 1990, Knapik et al., 1996). With regard to the frequency of training sessions, evidence suggests that loaded marching should be undertaken two to four times per month under operationally relevant conditions (Knapik et al., 1990, Knapik et al., 2004, Orr et al., 2010, Visser et al., 2005). Both high-load-short-distance and moderate-load-long-distance training have been shown to improve loaded marching performance (Knapik et al., 1990, Orr et al., 2010, Visser et al., 2005). Load carriage training (e.g. load, speed, distance, frequency) should be progressive and consider individual characteristics and experience to mitigate the incidence of load carriage injuries (e.g. stress fractures) (Orr et al., 2010).

Whilst it is inappropriate to establish operational load limits as a percentage of the member's body mass, setting load as a percentage of body mass may be of use in the progressive physical conditioning of personnel for load carriage tasks. In a controlled training environment (e.g. Army Recruit Training Centre, Royal Military College - Duntroon) free from the influence of operational requirements, loads set as a percentage of body mass can be progressively increased towards an (operationally relevant) absolute end-point load. The Load Carriage Continuum Matrix for Single Service Training developed as part of the Royal Military College - Duntroon Physical Conditioning Optimisation Review (Orr, 2007)

illustrates how loads set as a percentage of body mass can be used in the progressive load carriage conditioning of Army trainees (Table 4).

Table 4 Load Carriage Continuum Matrix for Army Single Service Training (SST) (adapted from Orr,2007)

LOAD	SST1A	SST1B	SST2A	SST3A	SST3B
15% BM Under 60 kg = 8 kg Under 70 kg = 10 kg Under 80 kg = 11 kg 80+ kg = 13 kg	8 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to steep hills	15 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to steep hills			
27% BM Under 60 kg = 15 kg Under 70 kg= 17.5 kg Under 80 kg = 20 kg 80+ kg = 23 kg	5 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to mild hills	10 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to mild hills	12 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to steep hills	15 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to steep hills	
35% BM Under 60 kg = 20 kg Under 70 kg = 23 kg Under 80 kg = 26 kg 80+ kg = 30 kg		35% BM Patrol No faster than 5.0 km/hr 6 km per day maximum	8 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to mild hills	12 km Continuous marching Speed 5.5km/h Grade Flat to mild hills	15 km (CFA march)
47% BM Under 60 kg = 25 kg Under 70 kg = 30 kg Under 80 kg = 35 kg 80+ kg = 40 kg			47% BM Patrol No faster than 5.0 km/hr 6 km per day maximum	47% Bl Patro No faster than 7.5 km per day	l 5.5 km/hr
60% BM Under 60 kg = 33 kg Under 70 kg = 39 kg Under 80 kg = 45 kg 80+ kg = 50 kg				60% Bl Patro No faster than 5 km per day r	l 4.5 km/hr

DSTO-TR-2765

Understanding that external load, marching speed, marching surface and gradient collectively influence the energy cost of a load carriage task can assist in the load carriage conditioning of personnel. The energy cost of expected operational load carriage tasks can be replicated in training by manipulating one or more of the four load carriage factors listed above. It is suggested that where possible (and appropriate) external load remain unchanged, however marching speed, marching surface and surface gradient can all be manipulated to alter the intensity of a load carriage task and achieve equivalent energy cost. The reason for not altering operationally relevant loads is that, as discussed in Section 3.1, metabolic fatigue is not the only limiting factor during heavy and/or prolonged load carriage. Therefore load carriage training (or "work hardening") needs to simulate as much as possible the critical operational factors of load carriage tasks. Table 5 demonstrates how the energy cost of two representative operational load carriage tasks can be replicated during training simply by manipulating marching speed.

Table 5 Operational and In Barracks load carriage	scenarios with equivalent energy cost, as predicted
by the equation of Pandolf et al (1977).	

Scena	rio 1	Scenario 2			
Operational example In Barracks training		Operational example	In Barracks training		
Undulating, dirt road Load: 25kg Marching speed: 4.0 km/hr	Flat, asphalt road Load: 25 kg Marching speed: 5.0 km/hr	Flat terrain, heavy scrub Load: 40 kg Marching speed: 3.0 km/hr	Flat, asphalt road Load: 40 kg Marching speed: 3.5 km/hr		

Research clearly supports the conduct of specific physical conditioning and training prior to the operational requirement to undertake load carriage tasks (Orr et al., 2010). Progressive load carriage conditioning will improve performance and decrease the likelihood of adverse health outcomes (e.g. acute and/or chronic injury). For greatest benefit load carriage

conditioning will reflect expected operational load carriage requirements, including the use of the specific equipment to be fielded on operations. A recent review (Orr et al., 2010) examining load carriage conditioning in the military context:

- Two to four evenly spaced load carriage sessions per month,
- Progressive increase in carried load, commencing with a light load and gradual increase towards military relevant load,
- Progressive increase in load carriage task duration/distance,
- Periods of recovery throughout the conditioning program to allow for recovery from the conditioning stimulus and consolidation of physiological adaptations,
- Supplemental physical training (i.e. aerobic training and strength training) to further improve load carriage capacity.



A soldier runs to the next obstacle during the Military Skills Competition in Timor Leste Photo: AB Jo Dilorenzo

8.2 Command Strategies

Whilst formal Military load carriage limits may exist recent evidence suggests that they are not being adhered to and/or may not be viable. United States Army doctrine states that the 'Fighting Load' should equate to 22 kg, the 'Approach March Load' to 33 kg and the

DSTO-TR-2765

'Emergency Approach March Load' between 55 and 68 kg (van Dijk, 2007). A field study of U.S. soldier loads in Afghanistan found that the soldier Fighting Loads and Approach March Loads were on average over 30% higher than doctrine recommended loads (Dean, 2004). Recent evidence suggests that Australian soldiers (i.e. Infantry, Combat Engineers and Artillery) involved in dismounted operations are regularly carrying loads in excess of 50 kg for prolonged periods, often in hot environments. To minimise the load carriage burden there are two key approaches available to the commander in preparation for a deployment: a) enhancing individual load carriage capacity and b) conducting mission specific planning (refer to Section 8). Further considerations for the commander that may assist in minimising load carriage burden are;

- Commanders should ensure that load carriage requirements are considered in conjunction with mission requirements, as opposed to as a separate entity or an after thought.
- Commanders should not rely on a generic "load list" for mission planning. Each individual mission should be planned and loads packed accordingly.
- Commanders need to avoid 'mission creep' and ensure only mission essential equipment/stores are carried in order to minimise loads carried.
- Educate personnel on appropriate methods of packing loads for optimal performance (refer Appendix A).
- Commanders should ensure load carriage equipment is functional, integrates with other combat equipment and is worn correctly. Poor load carriage equipment integration may be a limiting factor in load carriage tasks and/or battlefield performance.
- Acute injuries can significantly impact load carriage capability. Commanders are advised to keep close observation on personnel during load carriage activities, encourage buddy systems and reporting of potential injuries.
- The cumulative effects of load carriage can lead to injury. Commanders need to discriminate between necessary and unnecessary load carriage tasks.
- Where appropriate personnel should be provided with sufficient acclimatisation when moving into a new area of operations (e.g. hot and/or humid climate).

DSTO-TR-2765



SGT Wagstaff, checks his pack before heading off on patrol in East Timor Photo: CPL Chris Moore

9. Summary Guidelines

The multi-factorial nature of human load carriage capacity makes it difficult to provide definitive guidelines. Furthermore setting maximum absolute load limits or maximum intensity limits may be difficult to implement in the field and may not always be operationally possible. It is understood that mission requirements, operational constraints and threat profile dictate load carriage requirements. However mission planning needs to balance, to some degree, the requirements of the operational environment against the various physical considerations of personnel load carriage ability. Therefore, mission planners and commanders alike need to understand the impact of various load carriage variables on an individual's load carriage capacity and operational effectiveness.

Using the methods described in Section 2 and the physiological considerations contained in Section 3, a table (Table 6) has been developed to better guide commanders in assessing the physiological burden associated with load carriage tasks. Table 6 provides commanders with an appreciation for the ability of individuals to (continuously) sustain a given load carriage task, under various operationally relevant parameters. It is important to understand that continuous work sustainment time does not consider other factors such as muscle discomfort and muscle fatigue, load carriage equipment integration and load carriage conditioning. These factors are known to reduce load carriage capacity before physiological factors (e.g. energy depletion), under certain conditions. The information presented in Table 6 is also based on the assumption that individuals are adequately nourished, hydrated and rested prior to undertaking load carriage tasks.

Looking beyond the burden of a single load carriage task Figure 4 provides commanders with an overview of key considerations for the management (i.e. preparation, execution and recovery) of personnel undertaking repeated load carriage tasks.

Table 6 Estimated energy expenditure and continuous sustainment time for different loaded marching
conditions. Each row demonstrates a change from the reference marching condition.

Г

A soldier of average body mass (83 kg) [#] and physical fitness (3.83 L.min ⁻¹) [*] moves 5 km on hard, flat terrain in 55 mins (5.5 km.hr ⁻¹) carrying 40 kg (including weapon, pack and body armour) on the torso in a thermoneutral environment at sea level.								
	Ability to complete task and perform subsequent physically (aerobically) demanding tasks following march completion.							
	Likely to complete march task but unlikely to be able to perform subsequent physically (aerobically) demanding tasks following march completion.							
	Unikely to complete march task.							
Load carriage parameter(s)	Change from baseline mission profileEstimated task intensity (% 							
	y cost of baseline sk	50	< 3.0 hr	14 km		1		
Total external load	- 10 kg (30kg)	45	< 4.0 hr	15^+ km		1		
	+ 10 kg (50 kg)	56	< 2.0 hr	9 km		1		
	+ 20 kg (60 kg)	63	< 1.0 hr	6 km		1		
	Slow (2.5 km.hr-1)	21	> 12 hr	15 ⁺ km		1		
Movement	Moderate (4.5 km.hr-1)	38	< 6.5 hr	15^+ km		1		
speed	Fast (6.5 km.hr-1)	65	< 1.0 hr	6 km		1		
	Very fast (7.5 km.hr-1)	82	< 0.5 hr	2 km		1		
	Uphill 1% Grade	56	< 2.0 hr	10 km]	1		
Terrain gradient	Uphill 3% Grade	67	< 1.0 hr	4 km		1		
	Uphill 5% Grade	78	< 0.25 hr	2 km		1		
	4% Downhill	46	> 3.0 hr	14^+ km		1, 2		
Terrain surface	Medium-thick scrub	64	< 1.0 hr	6 km		1		

DSTO-TR-2765

	Loose sand, 4.0 km.hr ⁻¹	51	< 2.5 hr	10 km		1
	Soft snow 25 cm, 3.2 km.hr ⁻¹	51	< 2.5 hr	8 km		1
	Warm, dry (30°C, 30% rh)	50	< 1.0 hr	6 km		1, 3
Climate ^	Hot, wet (35°C, 50% rh)	50	< 0.5 hr	2 km		1, 3
	Hot, dry (50°C, 10% rh)	50	< 0.5 hr	2 km		1, 3
	900 m	52	< 2.5 hr	13 km		1,46
Altitude	1,500 m	53	< 2.5 hr	12 km		1, 5-8
	2,400 m	57	< 2.0 hr	9 km		1, 5-8
Aerobic fitness	Low VO _{2max} (3.23 L.min ⁻¹)	60	< 1.5 hr	7 km		1
*	High VO_{2max} (4.43 L.min ⁻¹)	43	< 4.5 hr	15^+ km		1
	Low body mass (71 kg)	47	< 3.5hr	15^+ km		1
Body mass	High body mass(95 kg), low VO _{2max}	65	< 1.0 hr	5 km		1
	High body mass (95 kg),high VO _{2max}	47	< 3.5 hr	15 ⁺ km		1
	Minimal (2% body mass)	51	< 2.5 hr	12 km		1, 9, 10
Dehydration ^{\$}	Significant (4% body mass)	52	< 2.0 hr	10 km		1, 9, 10
	Serious (6% body mass)	53	< 1.5 hr	8 km		1, 9, 10
+ 10 kg load, light scrub		60	< 1.5 hr	7 km		1
Low fitness, 4% dehydrated		60	< 1.5 hr	6 km		1
High body mass, low fitness		65	< 1.0 hr	5 km		1
Low fitness, 2400m altitude		68	< 1.0 hr	4 km		1

References: 1; Pandolf (Pandolf et al., 1977), 2:Santee (Santee et al., 2003), 3;Defence Safety Manual (Safetyman) (Department of Defence, 2007), 4; Terrados (Terrados and Maughan, 1995), 5; Faulkner (Faulkner et al., 1968), 6; Daniels (Daniels and Oldridge, 1970), 7; Sharkey (Sharkey and Davis, 2008), 8; Powers (Powers and Howley, 2009), 9; Caldwell (Caldwell et al., 1984), 10; Sawka (Sawka et al., 1985).

^ Based on Army continuous work table (Department of Defence, 2007) and Bureau of Meteorology prediction of wet bulb globe temperature (WBGT).

* The predicted VO_{2max} for an 83 kg soldier required to meet the Army Individual Readiness Notice (AIRN) pass standard for a male \leq 25 years (11:18 min for the 2.4 km run) is 3.83 L/min, which is equivalent to a level 9-shuttle 8 beep test result. Low aerobic fitness is defined as a VO_{2max} of 3.23 L/min which is equivalent to a 13:10 min 2.4 km run time or a level 7shuttle 8 beep test result for an 83 kg individual. A high aerobic fitness is defined as a VO_{2max} of 4.43 L/min which is equivalent to a 9:41 min 2.4 km run time or a level 11-shuttle 11 beep test result for an 83 kg individual.

\$ Dehydration categorised according to National Athletic Trainers Association Position Statement: Fluid Replacement for Athletes (Casa et al., 2000Casa et al., 2000).



Figure 4 Load Carriage Planning and Management Cycle

10. References

Abe, D., Yanagawa, K. and Niihata, S. (2004) Effects of load carriage, load position, and
walking speed on energy cost of walking. <i>Applied Ergonomics</i> 35 (4) 329-335
Amos, D., et al. (1998) A Methodology for Measuring the Physiological Strain of Enhanced
Soldiers: The 1998 Soldier Combat System Enhancement Study. Defence Science and
Technology Organisation
Astrand, P. O., et al. (2003) Textbook of Work Physiology: Physiological Bases of Exercise. 4th ed.
New York, McGraw-Hill
Astrand, P. O. and Saltin, B. (1961) Maximal oxygen uptake and heart rate in various types
of muscular activity. J Appl Physiol 16 Nov 977-81
Attwells, R. L., et al. (2006) Influence of Carrying Heavy Loads on Soldiers' Posture,
Movement and Gait. Ergonomics 49 (14) 1527-1537
Attwells, R. L., et al. (2006) Influence of carrying heavy loads on soldiers' posture,
movements and gait. Ergonomics 49 (14) Nov 15 1527-37
Bassan, D., Boynton, A. and Ortega, S. (2005) Methodological Issues when Assessing
Dismounted Soldier Mobility Performance. NATO
Bastien, G. J., et al. (2005) Effect of load and speed on the energetic cost of human walking.
European Journal of Applied Physiology 94 (1) 76-83
Beekley, M. D., et al. (2007) Effects of Heavy Load Carriage during Constant-Speed,
Simulated, Road Marching. <i>Military Medicine</i> 172 (6) 592-595
Bell, N. S., et al. (2000) High injury rates among female army trainees: A function of
gender? American Journal of Preventive Medicine 18 (3S) 141-146
Bell, N. S., et al. (2000) High injury rates among female army trainees: a function of
gender? Am J Prev Med 18 (3 Suppl) Apr 141-6
Bessen, R. J., Belcher, V. W. and Franklin, R. J. (1987) Rucksack paralysis with and without
rucksack frames. Military Medicine 152 372-375
Bessen, R. J., Belcher, V. W. and Franklin, R. J. (1987) Rucksack paralysis with and without
rucksack frames. <i>Mil Med</i> 152 (7) Jul 372-5
Bhatt, B. M. (1990) 'Top cover neuropathy'transient brachial plexopathy due to body
armour. J R Army Med Corps 136 (1) Feb 53-4
Bilzon, J. L., Allsopp, A. J. and Tipton, M. J. (2001) Assessment of physical fitness for
occupations encompassing load-carriage tasks. Occup Med (Lond) 51 (5) Aug 357-61
Bink, B. (1962) The physical working capacity in relation to working time and age.
Ergonomics 5 Nov 8 25-28
Birrell, S. A., Hooper, R. H. and Haslam, R. A. (2007) The effect of military load carriage on
ground reaction forces. <i>Gait Posture</i> 26 (4) Oct 611-4
Blacker, S. D., et al. (2009) Physiological Responses to Load Carriage During Level and Downhill
Treadmill Walking <i>Medicina Sportiva</i> 13 (2) 108-124
Blacker, S. D., et al. (2011) The effect of a carbohydrate beverage on the physiological
responses during prolonged load carriage. <i>Eur J Appl Physiol</i> 111 (8) Aug 1901-8
Booth C and Coad, R (2002) The 1998 Army recruit health and diet survey Australian

Booth, C. and Coad, R. (2002) The 1998 Army recruit health and diet survey. *Australian Military Medicine* **11** (2) 63-70

- Booth, C., et al. (2001) *The Effect of Consumption of Australian Combat Rations on Military Personnel after a Medium-Term Field Exercise*. Defence Science and Technology Organisation
- Breen, B. (2000) Mission Accomplished, East Timor, Allen & Unwin
- Brinckmann, P., et al. (1998) Quantification of overload injuries to thoracolumbar vertebrae and discs in persons exposed to heavy physical exertions or vibration at the workplace Part II Occurrence and magnitude of overload injury in exposed cohorts. *Clinical Biomechanics* **13**, **Supplement 2** (0) S1-S36
- Caldwell, J. E., Ahonen, E. and Nousiainen, U. (1984) Differential effects of sauna-, diuretic-, and exercise-induced hypohydration. *J Appl Physiol* **57** (4) Oct 1018-23
- Casa, D. J., et al. (2000) National Athletic Trainers' Association Position Statement: Fluid Replacement for Athletes. *J Athl Train* **35** (2) Apr 212-224
- Castro, M. J., et al. (1995) Peak torque per unit cross-sectional area differs between strength-trained and untrained young adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 27 (3) 397-403
- Charteris, J. (2000) Load stress; carrier strain: implications for military and receational backpacking. *Journal of the Ergonomics Society of South Africa* **12** (1) 25-47
- Cheung, S. S. (2010) Advanced Environmental Exercise Physiology, Human Kinetics, Champaign, IL.
- Christie, C. J. and Scott, P. A. (2005) Metabolic responses of South African soldiers during simulated marching with 16 combinations of speed and backpack load. *Mil Med* **170** (7) Jul 619-22
- Cook, T. M. and Neumann, D. A. (1987) The effects of load placement on the EMG activity of the low back muscles during load carrying by men and women. *Ergonomics* **30** (10) 1413-1423
- Coyle, E. F. and Gonzalez-Alonso, J. (2001) Cardiovascular drift during prolonged exercise: new perspectives. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* **29** (2) Apr 88-92
- Crowder, T. A., et al. (2007) Metabolic Effects of Soldier Performance on a Simulated Graded Road March while Wearing Two Functionally Equivalent Military Ensembles. *Military Medicine* **172** (6) 596-602
- Daniels, J. and Oldridge, N. (1970) The effects of alternate exposure to altitude and sea level on world-class middle-distance runners. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* **2** (3) 107-112
- Datta, S. R. and Ramanathan, N. L. (1971) Ergonomic Comparison of Seven Modes of Carrying Loads on the Horizontal Plane. *Ergonomics* **14** (2) 1971/03/01 269-278
- Daube, J. R. (1969) Rucksack paralysis. *Journal of the American Medical Association* **208** (13) 2447-2452
- Daube, J. R. (1969) Rucksack paralysis. JAMA 208 (13) Jun 30 2447-52
- Dean, C. E. (2004) *The Modern Warrior's Combat Load, Dismounted Operations in Afghanistan.* . Natick, U.S. Army Center for Army Lessons Learned, US Army Research, Development and Engineering Command, Natick Soldier Center
- Department of Defence, P. S. a. P. G. (2007) Defence Safety Manual.
- Derrick, L., Henn, H. R. and Malone, G. H. (1963) The influence of body armour coverage and weight on the performance of the marine while performing certain simulated combat type tasks. *US Naval Medical Field Research Laboratory* **13** (29) 1-10
- Deuster, P. A., Jones, B. H. and Moore, J. (1997) Patterns and risk factors for exerciserelated injuries in women: a military perspective. *Military Medicine* **162** (10) 649-655

- Deuster, P. A., Jones, B. H. and Moore, J. (1997) Patterns and risk factors for exerciserelated injuries in women: a military perspective. *Mil Med* **162** (10) Oct 649-55
- Duggan, A. and Haisman, M. F. (1992) Prediction of the metabolic cost of walking with and without loads. *Ergonomics* **35** (4) 417 - 426
- Eddy, D., Sparks, K. and Adelizi, D. (1977) The effects of continuous and interval training in women and men. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology* **37** (2) 83-92
- Epstein, Y., et al. (1988) External load can alter the energy cost of prolonged exercise. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* **57** (2) 243-247
- Eyolfson, D. A., et al. (2001) Measurement and prediction of peak shivering intensity in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* **84** (1-2) Jan-Feb 100-6
- Fargo, M. V. and Konitzer, L. N. (2007) Meralgia paresthetica due to body armor wear in U.S. soldiers serving in Iraq: a case report and review of the literature. *Mil Med* 172 (6) Jun 663-5
- Faulkner, J. A., et al. (1968) Maximum aerobic capacity and running performance at altitude. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **24** (5) May 1, 1968 685-691
- Forbes-Ewan, C. (1999) Nutrition for Military Fitness. *Journal of Battlefield Technology* **2** (1) March 21-25
- Forbes-Ewan, C., et al. (2008) Assessment of Adequacy of Rationing during Infantry Initial Employment Training. Defence Science and Technology Organisation
- Fowler, N. E., Rodacki, A. L. and Rodacki, C. D. (2006) Changes in stature and spine kinematics during a loaded walking task. *Gait Posture* **23** (2) Feb 133-41
- Fullenkamp, A. M., Robinette, K. M. and Daanen, H. A. (2008) Gender Differences in NATO Anthropometry and the Implication for Protective Equipment. AFRL-RH-WP-JA-2008-0014.,
- Gallagher, D. and Heymsfield, S. B. (1998) Muscle distribution: Variations with body weight, gender, and age. *Applied Radiation and Isotopes* **49** (5–6) 733-734
- Galun, E., et al. (1991) Hyponatremia induced by exercise: a 24-hour endurance march study. *Miner Electrolyte Metab* **17** (5) 315-20
- Garigan, T. P. and Ristedt, D. E. (1999) Death from hyponatremia as a result of acute water intoxication in an Army basic trainee. *Mil Med* **164** (3) Mar 234-8
- Goh, J. H., Thambyah, A. and Bose, K. (1998) Effects of varying backpack loads on peak forces in the lumbosacral spine during walking. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)* **13** (1 Suppl 1) S26-S31
- Gray, E. L., Consolazio, F. C. and Kark, R. M. (1951) Nutritional requirements for men at work in cold, temperate and hot environments. *J Appl Physiol* **4** (4) Oct 270-5
- Haisman, M. F. (1988) Determinants of load carrying ability. *Applied Ergonomics* **19** (2) 111-121
- Haisman, M. F. (1988) Determinants of load carrying ability. Appl Ergon 19 (2) Jun 111-21
- Haman, F., et al. (2005) Partitioning oxidative fuels during cold exposure in humans: muscle glycogen becomes dominant as shivering intensifies. *J Physiol* **566** (Pt 1) Jul 1 247-56
- Harman, E., et al. (1997) *Effects of a specifically designed physical conditioning program on the load carriage and lifting performance of female soldiers.* US Army Institute of Environmental Medicine
- Harman, E., Frykman, P. and Pandorf, C. (1999) *Physiological, biomechanical and maximal performance comparisons of female soldiers carrying loads using prototype U.S. Marine*

Corps Modular Lightweight Load-Carrying Equipment (MOLLE) with Interceptor body armour and U.S. Army All-Purpose Lightweight Individual Carrying Equipment (ALICE) with PASGT body armour. Natick, MA, U.S. Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine

- Harman, E., et al. (1999) Performance comparisons of soldiers carrying loads using U.S. Marine Corps modular lightweight load-carrying equipment (MOLLE), and U.S. Army modular load system (MLS) prototypes. T99-4, [Technial Report] Fort Detrick, U.S. Army Medical Research and Materian Command
- Harman, E., et al. (1992) The effects of gait timing, kinetics, and muscle activity of various loads carried on the back. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* **24** (5) S129
- Harman, E., et al. (2000) The effects of backpack weight on the biomechanics of load carriage. T00-17, [USARIEM Technical Report] Natick, U.S. Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine
- Harman, E., Han, K.-H. and Frykman, P. N. (2000) Load-speed interaction effects on the biomechanics of backpack load carriage. In: *RTO Meeting Proceedings 56: Soldier Mobility: Innovations in Load Carriage System Design and Evaluation,* Kingston, Canada, Research and Technology Organisation/North Atlantic Treaty Organization
- Harman, E., et al. (2000) *The Effects of Backpack Weight on the Biomechanics of Load Carriage*. US Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine
- Harman, E. A., et al. (2008) Prediction of Simulated Battlefield Physical Performance from Field-Expedient Tests. *Military Medicine* **173** ///January 2008 36-41
- Harper, W., Knapik, J. and Pontbriand, R. J. (1997) *Female Load-Carrying Performance*. Army Research Laboratory
- Hasselquist, L., et al. (2008) North American Congress on Biomechanics, Ann Arbor:Aug 5-9 2008
- Holewijn, M. (1990) Physiological strain due to load carrying. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* **61** (3-4) 237-45
- Holewijn, M. and Lotens, W. A. (1992) The influence of backpack design on physical performance. *Ergonomics* **35** (2) 149-157
- Hughes, A. L. and Goldman, R. F. (1970) Energy cost of "hard work". J Appl Physiol 29 (5) Nov 570-2
- Hurley, B. and Hagberg, J. (1998) Optimizing Health in Older Persons: Aerobic or Strength Training? *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews* **26** (1) 61-90
- Johnson, R. C., et al. (2000) *Soldier Mobility: Innovations in Load Carriage System Design and Evaluation*, Kingston, Canada, Research and Technology Organisation, NATO
- Johnson, R. E. and Kark, R. M. (1947) Environment and caloric requirements. *Fed Proc* **6** (1 Pt 2) 138
- Johnson, R. F., Knapik, J. J. and Merullo, D. J. (1995) Symptoms during load carrying: effects of mass and load distribution during a 20-km road march. *Percept Mot Skills* **81** (1) Aug 331-8
- Jones, P. J., et al. (1993) Adequacy of food rations in soldiers during an arctic exercise measured by doubly labeled water. *J Appl Physiol* **75** (4) Oct 1790-7
- King, N., et al. (1993) Cold weather field evaluation of the 18-Man Arctic Tray Pack Ration Module, the meal, ready-to-eat, and the Long Life Ration Packet. *Mil Med* **158** (7) Jul 458-65

Kinoshita, H. (1985) Effects of different loads and carrying systems on selected biomechanical parameters describing walking gait. *Ergonomics* **28** (9) 1347-1362

Knapik, J. (2000) *Physiological, Biomechanical and Medical Aspects of Soldier Load Carriage.* Canada,

- Knapik, J., et al. (1990) Frequency of loaded roach march training and performance on a loaded road march. T13-90, [Report] Natick, MA, US Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine
- Knapik, J., Harman, E. and Reynolds, K. (1996) Load carriage using packs: a review of physiological, biomechanical and medical aspects. *Appl Ergon* **27** (3) Jun 207-16

Knapik, J., et al. (1992) Injuries associated with strenuous road marching. *Military Medicine* **157** (2) 64-67

- Knapik, J., et al. (1992) Injuries associated with strenuous road marching. *Mil Med* **157** (2) Feb 64-7
- Knapik, J., et al. (1991) Soldier performance and mood states following a strenuous road march. *Mil Med* **156** (4) Apr 197-200
- Knapik, J. J., et al. (1997) Soldier performance and strenuous road marching: influence of load mass and load distribution. *Mil Med* **162** (1) Jan 62-7
- Knapik, J. J., Harman, E. A. and Reynolds, K. (1996) Load carriage using packs: A review of physiological, biomechanical and medical aspects. *Applied Ergonomics* **27** (3) 207-216
- Knapik, J. J., et al. (2000) Standard and alternative methods of stretcher carriage: performance, human factors, and cardiorespiratory responses. *Ergonomics* **43** (5) 639 - 652
- Knapik, J. J., Reynolds, K. L. and Harman, E. (2004) Soldier load carriage: historical, physiological, biomechanical, and medical aspects. *Mil Med* **169** (1) Jan 45-56
- Knapik, J. J., et al. (2001) Risk factors for training-related injuries among men and women in basic combat training. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* **33** (6) 946-954
- Knapik, J. J., et al. (2001) Risk factors for training-related injuries among men and women in basic combat training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **33** (6) Jun 946-54
- Koerhuis, C. L., et al. (2009) Predicting marching capacity while carrying extremely heavy loads. *Mil Med* **174** (12) Dec 1300-7
- Lafiandra, M. and Harman, E. (2004) The distribution of forces between the upper and lower back during load carriage. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **36** (3) Mar 460-7
- Léger, L. and Lambert, J. (1982) A maximal multistage 20-m shuttle run test to predict O<sub>2</sub> max. European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology **49** (1) 1-12
- Legg, S. J., Ramsey, T. and Knowles, D. J. (1992) The metabolic cost of backpack and shoulder load carriage. *Ergonomics* **35** (9) Sep 1063-8
- Leyk, D., et al. (2007) Maximal manual stretcher carriage: performance and recovery of male and female ambulance workers. *Ergonomics* **50** (5) 752 762
- Leyk, D., et al. (2006) Recovery of hand grip strength and hand steadiness after exhausting manual stretcher carriage. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* **96** (5) 593-599

DSTO-TR-2765

- Lieberman, H. R., et al. (2005) The fog of war: decrements in cognitive performance and mood associated with combat-like stress. *Aviat Space Environ Med* **76** (7 Suppl) Jul C7-14
- Lieberman, H. R., et al. (2002) Effects of caffeine, sleep loss, and stress on cognitive performance and mood during U.S. Navy SEAL training. Sea-Air-Land. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **164** (3) Nov 250-61
- Ling, W., et al. (2004) Women's load carriage performance using modular lightweight load-carrying equipment. *Mil Med* **169** (11) Nov 914-9
- Lloyd, R. and Cooke, C. B. (2000) Kinetic changes associated with load carriage using two rucksack designs. *Ergonomics* **43** (9) Sep 1331-41
- Lothian, N. V. (1921) The load carried by the soldier. J R Army Med Corps 38 (9-24)
- Lyons, J., Allsopp, A. and Bilzon, J. (2005) Influences of body composition upon the relative metabolic and cardiovascular demands of load-carriage. *Occup Med (Lond)* **55** (5) Aug 380-4
- Mahoney, C. R., et al. (2007) The effects of movement and physical exertion on soldier vigilance. *Aviat Space Environ Med* **78** (5 Suppl) May B51-7
- Makela, J. P., et al. (2006) Brachial plexus lesions after backpack carriage in young adults. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* **452** 205-209
- Makhsous, M., et al. (2005) Reducing whole-body vibration and musculoskeletal injury with a new car seat design. *Ergonomics* **48** (9) 2005/07/15 1183-1199
- Marshall, S. L. A. (1980) *The Soldier's Load and the Mobility of a Nation*. Virginia, The Marine Corps Association
- Martin, P. E. and Nelson, R. C. (1985) The effect of carried loads on the combative movement performance of men and women. *Mil Med* **150** (7) Jul 357-62
- Martin, P. E. and Nelson, R. C. (1986) The effect of carried loads on the walking patterns of men and women. *Ergonomics* **29** (10) 1191-1202
- Martin, P. E., Nelson, R. C. and Shin, I. (1982) *Effects of gender, frame length, and participation time on load carrying behaviour*. Natick/TR-82/041, [Technical Report] Natick, Massachusetts, US Army Natick Research and Development Laboratories
- May, B., Tomporowski, P. D. and Ferrara, M. (2009) Effects of backpack load on balance and decisional processes. *Mil Med* **174** (12) Dec 1308-12
- Mayville, W. C. (1987) A Soldier's Load. Infantry Jan/Feb 87 (25 28)
- McArdle, W. D., Katch, F. I. and Katch, V. L. (2001) *Exercise Physiology Energy, Nutrition* and Human Performance. Fifth ed, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins
- McArdle, W. D., Katch, F. I. and Katch, V. L. (2007) *Exercise physiology: energy, nutrition, and human performance,* Lippincott Williams & Wilkins
- Miller, A., et al. (1993) Gender differences in strength and muscle fiber characteristics. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology* **66** (3) 254-262
- Myles, W. S. and Saunders, P. L. (1979) The physiological cost of carrying light and heavy loads. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* **42** (2) Oct 125-31
- NATO (2010) Nutrition Science and Food Standards for Military Operations. NATO
- Orloff, H., White, M. and Tanaka, L. (1999) XVII International Symposium on Biomechanics in Sports, Edith Cowan University, Perth, Australia, Sanders, R. H. and Gibson, B. J. (eds.)
- Orloff, H. A. and Rapp, C. M. (2004) The effects of load carriage on spinal curvature and posture. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* **29** (12) Jun 15 1325-9

- Orr, R. (2007) The Royal Military College Duntroon Physical Conditioning Optimisation Review. Royal Military College of Australia
- Orr, R., et al. (2010) Load carriage: minimising soldier injuries through physical conditioning a narrative review. *Journal of Military and Veterans' Health* **18** (3) July, 2010 31-38
- Pal, M. S., et al. (2009) Optimum load for carriage by soldiers at two walking speeds on level ground. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics* **39** (1) 68-72
- Pandolf, K. B., Givoni, B. and Goldman, R. F. (1977) Predicting energy expenditure with loads while standing or walking very slowly. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **43** (4) 577-581
- Pandorf, C. E., et al. (2002) Correlates of load carriage and obstacle course performance among women. *Work* **18** (2) 179-89
- Patterson, M., et al. (2005) *Gender and Physical Training Effects on Soldier Physical Competencies and Physiological Strain*. Defence Science and Technology Organisation
- Patton, J. F., et al. (1991) Physiological responses to prolonged treadmill walking with external loads. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* **63** (2) 89-93
- Pimental, N. A. and Pandolf, K. B. (1979) Energy expenditure while standing or walking slowly uphill or downhill with loads. *Ergonomics* **22** (8) Aug 963-73
- Plowman, S. A. and Smith, D. L. (2003) *Exercise Physiology for Health, Fitness, and Performance*, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins
- Polcyn, A. F., et al. (2002) *Effects of Weight Carried by Soldiers: Combined Analysis of Four Studies on Maximal Performance, Physiology and Biomechanics*. US Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine
- Pope, M. H., Magnusson, M. and Wilder, D. G. (1998) Low Back Pain and Whole Body Vibration. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* **354** 241-248
- Pope, R. P. (1999) Prevention of pelvic stress fractures in female army recruits. *Mil Med* **164** (5) May 370-3
- Pope, R. P. (2007) *Review of Rates, Patterns, Causes & Potential Countermeasures for Injuries to Recruits at the Army Recruit Training Centre Stage Two Report - Analysis of Injury & Training Data.*
- Powers, S. K. and Howley, E. T. (2009) *Exercise Physiology: Theory and Application to Fitness and Performance.* 7th Ed. ed. New York, McGraw-Hill
- Quesada, P. M., et al. (2000) Biomechanical and metabolic effects of varying backpack loading on simulated marching. *Ergonomics* **43** (3) Mar 293-309
- Ramanathan, N. L. and Datta, S. R. (1971) Ergonomical studies on load carrying up staircases. IV. Effect of load, rate of ascent and mode. *Indian J Med Res* **59** (1) Jan 145-56
- Rayson, M., Holliman, D. and Belyavin, A. (2000) Development of physical selection procedures for the British Army. Phase 2: Relationship between physical performance tests and criterion tasks. *Ergonomics* **43** (1) 73-105
- Reynolds, K. L., et al. (1990) *Prolonged Treadmill Load Carriage: Acute Injuries and Changes in Foot Anthropometry*. US Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine
- Reynolds, K. L., et al. (1999) Injuries and risk factors in a 100-mile (161-km) infantry road march. *Preventive Medicine* **28** (2) 167-173
- Reynolds, K. L., et al. (1999) Injuries and risk factors in a 100-mile (161-km) infantry road march. *Prev Med* **28** (2) Feb 167-73

DSTO-TR-2765

- Ricciardi, R., Deuster, P. A. and Talbot, L. A. (2007) Effects of gender and body adiposity on physiological responses to physical work while wearing body armor. *Mil Med* **172** (7) Jul 743-8
- RMA (2007) Statement of Principles concerning Intervertebral Disc Prolapse.
- Rodgers, A. L. and Spector, M. (1986) Pancreatic calculi containing brushite: ultrastructure and pathogenesis. *Calcif Tissue Int* **39** (5) Nov 342-7
- Rudzki, S. J. (1989) Weight-load marching as a method of conditioning Australian Army recruits. *Mil Med* **154** (4) Apr 201-5
- Sagiv, M., Ben-Gal, S. and Ben-Sira, D. (2000) Effects of gradient and load carried on human haemodynamic responses during treadmill walking. *Eur J Appl Physiol* **83** (1) Sep 47-50
- Sagiv, M., et al. (1994) Left ventricular responses during prolonged treadmill walking with heavy load carriage. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **26** (3) Mar 285-8
- Saha, P. N., et al. (1979) An acceptable workload for Indian workers. *Ergonomics* **22** (9) Sep 1059-71
- Sando, W. C., Mills, S. E. and Rodgers, B. M. (1986) Duodenal gangliocytic paraganglioma occurring in adolescence. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* **5** (4) Jul-Aug 659-64
- Santee, W. R., et al. (2001) A proposed model for load carriage on sloped terrain. *Aviat Space Environ Med* **72** (6) Jun 562-6
- Santee, W. R., Small, M. G. and Blanchard, L. A. (2003) Application of Energy Cost Algorithms for Load Carriage to Field Data. *Journal of the Human-Environment System* 6 (2) 69-76
- Sawka, M. N., et al. (1985) Thermoregulatory and blood responses during exercise at graded hypohydration levels. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **59** (5) November 1, 1985 1394-1401
- Schwartz, J. D., et al. (1988) Analysis of spirometric data from a national sample of healthy 6- to 24-year-olds (NHANES II). *Am Rev Respir Dis* **138** (6) Dec 1405-14
- Schwendiman, J. C. (2008) *Saving lives, saving honor: The 39th Evacuation Hospital during World War* 2. North Carolina, Lulu
- Seidel, H. (2005) On the Relationship between Whole-body Vibration Exposure and Spinal Health Risk. *Industrial Health* **43** (3) 361-377
- Seidel, H. and Griffin, M. J. (2001) Modelling the response of the spinal system to wholebody vibration and repeated shock. *Clinical Biomechanics* 16, Supplement 1 (0) S3-S7
- Sell, T. C., et al. Minimal additional weight of combat equipment alters air assault soldiers' landing biomechanics. *Mil Med* **175** (1) Jan 41-7
- Sell, T. C., et al. (2010) Minimal additional weight of combat equipment alters air assault soldiers' landing biomechanics. *Mil Med* **175** (1) Jan 41-7
- Sharkey, B. J. and Davis, P. O. (2008) *Hard Work: Defining Physical Work Performance Requirements.* Champaign, IL., Human Kinetics
- Shephard, R. J., et al. (1988) Muscle mass as a factor limiting physical work. *J Appl Physiol* **64** (4) Apr 1472-9
- Silk, A., et al. (2010) Physical Mobility Implications of Torso Body Armour Systems with Different Levels of Protection. In: *Land Warfare Conference*, Brisbane, Australia: November, 2010
- Soule, R. G. and Goldman, R. F. (1969) Energy cost of loads carried on the head, hands, or feet. J Appl Physiol 27 (5) Nov 687-90

- Soule, R. G. and Goldman, R. F. (1972) Terrain coefficients for energy cost prediction. J Appl Physiol **32** (5) May 706-8
- Soule, R. G., Pandolf, K. B. and Goldman, R. F. (1978) Energy expenditure of heavy load carriage. *Ergonomics.* **21** (5) 5/1978 373-381
- Staron, R. S., et al. (1994) Skeletal muscle adaptations during early phase of heavyresistance training in men and women. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **76** (3) March 1, 1994 1247-1255
- Stuempfle, K. J., Drury, D. G. and Wilson, A. L. (2004) Effect of load position on physiological and perceptual responses during load carriage with an internal frame backpack. *Ergonomics* 47 (7) Jun 10 784-9
- Swain, H. L., Toth, F. M. and et al. (1949) Food consumption of soldiers in a subarctic climate, Fort Churchill, Manitoba, Canada, 1947-1948. *J Nutr* **38** (1) May 10 63-72
- Taylor, N. A. and Groeller, H. (eds.) (2008) *Physiological Bases of Human Performance during Work and Exercise*. 1st edition ed., Philadelphia, Elsevier 616
- Taylor, N. A., et al. (2011) A fractionation of the physiological burden of the personal protective equipment worn by firefighters. *Eur J Appl Physiol* Dec 6
- Terrados, N. and Maughan, R. J. (1995) Exercise in the heat: strategies to minimize the adverse effects on performance. *J Sports Sci* **13 Spec No** Summer S55-62
- Tharion, W. J., et al. (2005) Energy requirements of military personnel. *Appetite* **44** (1) Feb 47-65
- Tharion, W. J., et al. (1993) The effects of litter carrying on rifle shooting. *Military Medicine* **158** (8) 1993/// 566-570
- van Dijk, J. (2007) Common Military Tasks: Marching. RTO-TR-HFM-080, NATO Research and Technology Organisation
- Visser, T., van Dijk, M. and Collee, T. (2005) Is intensity or duration the key factor in march training? In: *International Congress on Soldier's Performance*, Finland
- Watson, J. C., et al. (2008) The energetic costs of load-carrying and the evolution of bipedalism. *J Hum Evol* **54** (5) 675-83
- Wu, H.-C. and Wang, M.-J. (2002) Relationship between maximum acceptable work time and physical workload. *Ergonomics* **45** (4) 280-289

DSTO-TR-2765

Appendix A: Guidelines for Pack Loading



DEFENCE SCIEN				ANISAT	ION				
DOCUMENT CONTROL DATA					1. PRIVACY MARKING/CAVEAT (OF DOCUMENT)				
2. TITLE Load Carriage Capacity of the Dismounted Combatant - A Commanders' Guide			TH	3. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION (FOR UNCLASSIFIED REPORTS THAT ARE LIMITED RELEASE USE (L) NEXT TO DOCUMENT CLASSIFICATION)					
					,	/T ·	T /T \		
					Do Tit	ocument tle	(L (L	J/L) J)	
					Ab	ostract	(U		
4. AUTHOR(S)				5. 0	CORPORA	ATE AUTHOR			
Drain, J., Orr, R., Attwells,	R. and Bi	illing, D.		50	Defence Science and Technology Organisation 506 Lorimer St Fishermans Bend Victoria 3207 Australia				
						DEDODT			
6a. DSTO NUMBER DSTO-TR-2765		6b. AR NUMBER AR 015-444			TYPE OF chnical R			DCUMENT DATE bber 2012	
8. FILE NUMBER	9. TASK	NUMBER	10. TASK	SPONSOR		11. NO. OF PAGES		12. NO. OF REFERENCES	
2010/1140140	-7/351		Diggerw			69	173		
13. DSTO Publications Reposi	itory			14. RELE	RELEASE AUTHORITY				
http://dspace.dsto.defenc	e.gov.au/	dspace/		Chief, H	ief, Human Protection and Performance Division				
15. SECONDARY RELEASE S	STATEMEN	NT OF THIS DOCUM	1ENT						
		F	Approved	for publi	c release	2			
							OV 1500		
OVERSEAS ENQUIRIES OUTSID 16. DELIBERATE ANNOUNC		LIMITATIONS SHOULI	D BE KEFEKF	KED THROU	GH DOCU	MENT EXCHANGE, PO B	OX 1500	J, EDINBUKGH, SA 5111	
No Limitations									
17. CITATION IN OTHER DO			ſes						
18. DSTO RESEARCH LIBRA	RY THESA	AURUS							
Load carriage, mission pla	nning, ph	ysiological deman	lds						
19. ABSTRACT	romont fo	r military porconn	ol to corru	an oxtorn	al load '	The lead of military	porcor	nnel is typically comprised	
of clothing, protective ens sources, radio) and sustai move, on foot, through va	semble (i. nment sto arious clir	e. body armour, l ores (i.e. food and mates and terrains	nelmet), co water). In for long	ombat equ n addition, and contin	uipment , military nuous pe	(i.e. webbing, weapo operations often re- eriods. The total load	on sys quires l varie	tems, ammunition, power dismounted personnel to es dependant upon factors ncreasing with advancing	
technologies and personal (e.g. mobility, lethality) and carriage capacity in mission	protectivend health	e equipment. Exce (e.g. survivability ng. An individual's	ssive exter , thermal s load carr	rnal load n burden). I iage capac	nay adve It is there city is inf	rsely impact upon ar efore important we o luenced by a multitu	n indiv consid de of :	vidual's physical capability er (likely) individual load factors that can broadly be	
2) task characteristics (e.g. work to rest ratio) and 3)	. total exte environm	ernal load, distribu ent (e.g. terrain, he	ution of loa eat, humid	ad, load ca lity, altitud	arriage e de) in wh	quipment design, mo nich the task is perfor	oveme rmed.	load carriage experience), ent speed, march duration, Some of these factors may	
								re is a dynamic interaction ing mission planning it is	
important for commander	s to consi	ider the factors inf	fluencing l	load carria	age capac	city and identify the	likely	burden. Such information	
requirements. This planning and ultimately mission su	ng is critic access. Th	cal to the maintena is document revie	ance of dis ws existin	smounted 1g scientifi	personne ic literatu	el's operational effect are and established v	tivene vork j	nent and logistical support ss, battlefield performance physiology models for the	
factors with the intent of a	assisting c	commanders' in ma	aking deci	sions abou	ut tasks i	nvolving load carria	ge. It i	task elements and human s important to understand	
establish general principl	es to assi	ist the commande	er in miss	ion plann	ing. Fur	thermore setting ma	iximui	iage scenarios, rather they m absolute load limits or ssible. It is understood that	